
 
1 

AGENDA 
CITY OF STEVENSON COUNCIL MEETING 

May 16, 2019 
6:00 PM, City Hall 

 
Items with an asterisk (*) have been added or modified after the initial publication of the Agenda. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER/PRESENTATION TO THE FLAG: Mayor to call the meeting to order, lead the 
group in reciting the pledge of allegiance and conduct roll call. 

2. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA: [The Mayor may add agenda items or take agenda items out of order with the 

concurrence of the majority of the Council]. 

3. CONSENT AGENDA: The following items are presented for Council approval. [Consent agenda 

items are intended to be passed by a single motion to approve all listed actions. If discussion of an individual item is 
requested by a Council member, that item should be removed from the consent agenda and considered separately 
after approval of the remaining consent agenda items.] 

a) Special Occasion Liquor License Applications - Skamania County Fair Board at the 
Fairgrounds July 25-27th for Gorgegrass and the Stevenson Volunteer Firefighters 
Association at the Port of Skamania June 1st from 5-9pm for Fire Fest. 

b) *Special Occasion Liquor License Application - American Legion Auxiliary at the 
Skamania Fairgrounds on August 14-17th for the beer garden at the county fair. 

c) Liquor License Renewals - The Kellogg Group, LLC (Clark and Lewie's), Dudley, LLC (Big 
T's Grill) 

d) Minutes of April 18, 2019 City Council Meeting. (p. 5) 

MOTION: To approve Consent Agenda items a-d. 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS: [This is an opportunity for members of the audience to address the Council. If you wish 

to address the Council, please sign in to be recognized by the Mayor. Comments are limited to three minutes per 
speaker. The Mayor may extend or further limit these time periods at his discretion. The Mayor may allow citizens 
to comment on individual agenda items outside of the public comment period at his discretion.] 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS: [Advertised public hearings have priority over other agenda items.  The Mayor may 

reschedule other agenda items to meet the advertised times for public hearings.] 

a) 6:15 - Single Family Residences in C1 Moratorium - City Administrator Leana Kinley 
presents Resolution 2019-333 regarding adoption of the Findings of Fact to support 
Ordinance 2019-1143 and Ordinance 2019-1143 extending a moratorium on 
construction of new single-family residences in the C1 zone for public comment and 
council consideration. (p. 14) 

1



 
2 

MOTION: To approve Resolution 2019-333 adopting the Findings of Fact to support 
Ordinance 2019-1143. 

MOTION: To approve Ordinance 2019-1143 extending a moratorium on construction of 
new single-family residences in the C1 zone. 

b) 6:30 - Detached Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) and Utility Fees - City Community 
Development Director Ben Shumaker presents to council Ordinance 2019-1141 for 
council consideration regarding allowing detached ADUs in residential zones for 
consideration.  Staff also presents the attached memo regarding how water and sewer 
utilities associated with ADUs should be applied. (p. 19) 

MOTION: To approve ordinance 2019-1141 amending the Stevenson zoning code (SMC 
title 17) to allow detached accessory dwelling units; clarifying the use categories within 
SMC 17.13.020 and SMC 17.13.050; and repealing portions of ordinances 1073, 2017-
1103 and 2017-1104. 

c) 6:45 - Transportation Improvement Program - Public Works Director Eric Hansen will 
present the updated Six-Year Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) for public 
input and council review.  This is the first of two scheduled public hearings for the 
annual TIP update. (p. 46) 

6. OLD BUSINESS: 

a) Discuss Copier Lease - The lease for the small copier expires in June.  City Administrator 
Leana Kinley will present options from multiple vendors to replace both city copiers 
through either a lease or outright purchase. (p. 54) 

MOTION: To approve the contract with ____ for the purchase of two copiers in the 
amount of _____ and for the service contract at the rates listed. 

b) Discuss Scheduling Joint Meeting with Fire Department - Staff suggests scheduling a 
special joint meeting with the Fire Department to further discuss the Fire Hall 
project.  Direction on agenda items and goals of the meeting from council will be 
discussed. 

c) Sewer Plant Update - Public Works Director Eric Hansen will provide an update on the 
Stevenson Wastewater System and the Compliance Schedule. 

7. NEW BUSINESS: 

a) Letter to Commissioners Regarding I-1639 - City Administrator Leana Kinley presents 
the attached draft letter to the Skamania County Commissioners regarding the 
enforcement of I-1639 for council consideration. (p. 88) 

2



 
3 

MOTION: To approve the letter to the Skamania County Commissioners (as drafted/with 
changes as discussed). 

b) Discuss Financial Software System - City Administrator Leana Kinley presents the 
attached memo regarding a change to the city's financial software from Vision Municipal 
Solutions to BIAS Software for council discussion. (p. 89) 

MOTION: To approve the contract with BIAS for financial software services in the 
amount of _____ for 2019. 

c) Approve Contract Amendment with Wallis Engineering - Public Works Director Eric 
Hansen requests approval of the attached contract amendment in the amount of 
$22,676.34 for a total revised contract amount of $224,224.17 for additional Right of 
Way acquisition and public outreach for the Russell Avenue Improvement project. (p. 
99) 

MOTION: To approve the contract amendment with Wallis Engineering in the amount of 
$22,676.34 for a total revised contract amount of $224,224.17. 

d) Amending Metropolitan Park District Resolution - City Administrator Leana Kinley 
requests an amendment to correct to form of Resolution 2019-328.  A copy of the 
redlined version is attached. (p. 107) 

MOTION: To amend resolution 2019-328 as presented to correct to form. 

8. INFORMATION ITEMS: 

a) Chamber of Commerce Activities - The attached report describes some of the activities 
conducted by Skamania County Chamber of Commerce in April. (p. 108) 

b) Planning Commission Minutes - Minutes are attached from the 4/8/19 Planning 
Commission meeting. (110) 

c) Sheriff's Report - A copy of the Skamania County Sheriff's report for April is attached for 
council review. (p. 114) 

d) Municipal Court Cases Filed - A summary of Stevenson Municipal Court cases recently 
filed is attached for council's review. (p. 119) 

e) *Fire Department Report - The attached report describes some of the activities 
conducted by the Fire Department in April. (p. 120) 

9. CITY ADMINISTRATOR AND STAFF REPORTS: 

a) Eric Hansen, Public Works Director 

3



 
4 

b) Ben Shumaker, Community Development Director 

c) Leana Kinley, City Administrator 

10. VOUCHER APPROVAL AND INVESTMENTS UPDATE: Will be provided at the council 
meeting. 

a) *March 2019 payroll & April 2019 A/P checks have been audited and are presented for 
approval. March payroll checks 13333 thru 13340 total $99,614.01 which includes one 
EFTPS and five ACH payments. A/P Checks 13341 thru 13410 total $125,087.36 which 
includes two ACH payments. The A/P Check Register and Fund Transaction Summary are 
attached for your review.  Detailed claims vouchers will be available for review at the 
Council meeting. No investment activity in March 2019. 

April 2019 payroll & May 2019 A/P checks have been audited and are presented for 
approval. April payroll checks 13411 thru 13419 total $99,430.77 which includes one 
EFTPS and five ACH payments. A/P Checks 13469 thru 13526 total $167,545.41 which 
includes two ACH payments. The A/P Check Register and Fund Transaction Summary are 
attached for your review.  Detailed claims vouchers will be available for review at the 
Council meeting. No investment activity in April 2019. (p. 121) 

11. MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS: 

12. ISSUES FOR THE NEXT MEETING: [This provides Council Members an opportunity to focus 
the Mayor and Staff’s attention on issues they would like to have addressed at the next council 
meeting.] 

13. EXECUTIVE SESSION - City Council will convene in Executive Session under: 

a) a) RCW 42.30.110.1(b) to consider the selection of a site or the acquisition of real 
estate. 

b) *b) RCW 42.30.110 (g) to review the performance of a public employee. 

14. ADJOURNMENT - Mayor will adjourn the meeting. 

================================================================= 

UPCOMING MEETINGS AND EVENTS: 

-EMS Street Fair May 18, 11-2 pm. 

-Memorial Day-City Offices Closed, May 27th 

-Firefighters Fest, Port of Skamania, June 1st, 5-9 pm 

  

4



MINUTES 

CITY OF STEVENSON COUNCIL MEETING 

April 18, 2019 

6:00 PM, City Hall 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER/PRESENTATION TO THE FLAG: Mayor Scott Anderson called 

the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m, led the group in reciting the pledge of allegiance and 

conducted roll call. 

 

PRESENT 

Councilmember Robert Muth, Councilmember Amy Weissfeld, Councilmember Paul 

Hendricks, Councilmember Matthew Knudsen 

 

ABSENT 

Councilmember Jenny Taylor 

 

MOTION: To retroactively excuse Councilmembers Weissfeld and Knudsen from the 

March meeting and excuse Councilmember Taylor from tonight’s meeting made by 

Councilmember Knudsen, Seconded by Councilmember Muth. 

Voting Yea: Councilmember Muth, Councilmember Weissfeld, Councilmember 

Hendricks, Councilmember Knudsen 

 

2. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA: None 

 

3. CONSENT AGENDA: The following items were presented for Council approval.  

a) Liquor License Renewal - Fraternal Order of Eagles Aeri, Skamania 

Lodge (DH Washington Management LLC, Terrapins Lessee, LLC per 

WAC) 

b) *Liquor License Assumption - Skamania Lodge license transfer from 

DH Washington Management LLC, Terrapins Lessee, LLC to Benchmark 

Stevenson, LLC 

c) Special Occasion Liquor License Application - Oregon Academy of 

Family Physicians at the Columbia Gorge Interpretive Center May 2 from 

5:30-7:30 pm. 

d) Minutes of March 21, 2019 City Council Meeting. 

5



MOTION: To approve Consent Agenda items a-d made by Councilmember Muth, 

Seconded by Councilmember Knudsen. 

Voting Yea: Councilmember Muth, Councilmember Weissfeld, Councilmember 

Hendricks, Councilmember Knudsen 

 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  

Community member Mary Repar noted the recent County Commissioners meeting and 

the Sheriff's input regarding I-1639. She asked the Council to take a stand on this issue. 

 

City Attorney Ken Woodrich noted a recent letter he was asked to write on behalf of 

Washougal City Council in regards to the same initiative. In Washington, the statues are 

constitutional unless overturned. Council consensus to move forward with a letter 

similar to Washougal. Anderson suggested tabling until next month to allow Council 

time to review initiative information and Woodrich's Washougal letter.  

 

Muth noted, in full disclosure, that he was asked by Sheriff Brown to present a lawsuit to 

the county but he did not move forward and is not further involved. 

 

5. OLD BUSINESS: 

a) Sewer Plant Update - Public Works Director Eric Hansen provided an 

update on the Stevenson Wastewater System and the Compliance 

Schedule. 

 

Hansen asked for input regarding John Mercer with Brewery Wastewater Inc to  

bring him in to work with the city and consult with the brewers and beverage  

companies. 

Council asked about cost and who would pay for the cost. Hansen does not 

expect it to cost more than $6,000. Council considered sharing the cost with 

industry users. Council was interested in moving forward with understanding 

industry user involvement in this process and a possible contract with Mercer. 

6. NEW BUSINESS: 

a) *Wallis Engineering WWTP Design Contract - City Administrator Leana 

Kinley presented the attached contract from Wallis Engineering for the 

design of the city's wastewater treatment plant and collection system in 

the amount of $389,478. 

 

6



Wallis Engineering representative Mike Conway was in attendance and shared  

excitement in working with the city. Highlighted things that can be changed in the  

system to better support the overall plant at this time. 

MOTION: To approve the contract with Wallis Engineering for the design of the 

city's wastewater system in the amount of $389,478 made by Councilmember 

Hendricks, Seconded by Councilmember Weissfeld. 

 

Anderson asked for further discussion and Muth questioned the language in the 

contract regarding waiving consequential damages. Woodrich suggested adding 

language in Section M "in excess of insurance limits required here under". 

 

MOTION: To amend the Wallis Engineering contract to include a revision to 

Section M consequential damage limitation to state, “in excess of insurance limits 

required hereunder” made by Councilmember Muth, Seconded by 

Councilmember Knudsen. No further discussion.  

Voting Yea: Councilmember Muth, Councilmember Weissfeld, Councilmember 

Hendricks, Councilmember Knudsen 

 

No further discussion on the motion as amended.  

Voting Yea: Councilmember Muth, Councilmember Weissfeld, Councilmember 

Hendricks, Councilmember Knudsen 

b) EDA Grant Application Preliminary Engineering Report - City 

Administrator Leana Kinley presented contract amendment #3 with Tetra 

Tech in the amount of $10,977 for a total revised contract amount of 

$355,709 to complete the PER for the EDA Grant application for council 

ratification. 

MOTION: To approve ratification of amendment #3 of the Tetra Tech contract in 

the amount of $10,977 for a total revised contract amount of $355,709 made by 

Councilmember Weissfeld, Seconded by Councilmember Hendricks. 

Voting Yea: Councilmember Muth, Councilmember Weissfeld, Councilmember 

Hendricks, Councilmember Knudsen 

c) Road Diet Ordinance 2019-1142 - Community Development Director Ben 

Shumaker presented Ordinance 2019-1142 adopting a road diet by 

reducing the road width requirements of certain streets for council 

deliberation. 

 

7



Planning Commission reviewed proposals from Planning and Public Works  

staff regarding a reduction in street widths for Local and Private streets and 

settled on what is noted in bold.  

Council asked how the standards were originally reached. Shumaker noted that 

there was an urgent need to adopt standards based on growth and standards 

from other cities were copied. Council also discussed how the road diet could 

support affordable housing and Shumaker confirmed it supports in two ways: 1. 

in the upfront cost and 2. average repaving cost decreases (middle of page 3). 

Council asked about rebuilding of existing streets. Shumaker explained that the 

standards set are for future development but could support building and 

rebuilding. Council noted the comprehensive plan and how narrow streets lead to 

a more rural feel.  

 

Shumaker asked for feedback on planter strips. Council discussed the need for 

maintenance versus separating traffic from pedestrians. Council also discussed 

making it optional versus required. Council majority to move forward with 

required planter strips at a minimum width of 3 feet. 

 

Shumaker spoke on behalf of the Planning Commission, which voted in favor of a 

reduction to the minimum total Right of Way and total pavement width as long as 

staff and elected officials work together. This led to the requirement for the City 

Council, Fire Marshal and Planning Commission to all agree and verify there's 

enough lot area for off street parking for a minimum total pavement width of 28’ 

for Local residential streets.   

 

Shumaker moved onto private streets. There were minor differences in the 

language between the Standards and the Stevenson Municipal Code regarding 

what goes on a plat for private streets.  Public Works recommendation is to go 

with what is in the code. Further, no to sidewalks will be required on private 

streets that serve a maximum of four homes.  

 

Council also discussed striping all roads. Planning Commission recommended 

requiring stripes, a majority of council concurred. 

 

MOTION: To approve ordinance 2019-1142 adopting a "road diet" by amending 

the street width requirements of the Stevenson Engineering Standards Volume 1-

Design and Planning, Chapter 2-Streets made by Councilmember Knudsen, 

Seconded by Councilmember Hendricks. 

8



Voting Yea: Councilmember Weissfeld, Councilmember Hendricks, 

Councilmember Knudsen 

Voting Nay: Councilmember Muth 

d) Discuss Copier Lease - The lease for the small copier will soon expire.  

City Administrator Kinley presented options from multiple vendors to 

replace the small copier and possibly the large copier, which is close to 

the end of its life.   

 

Kinley explained that the current pricing is cheaper than the vendors options  

because the current copier is owned. The current average monthly cost is about 

$265 a month and a print cost of $170 a month. There are three companies  

currently being analyzed for cost. Kinley noted the CTX lease cost is the lowest  

and print cost is average.  

Anderson suggested looking at the cost of buying a copier versus the leases 

discussed tonight. This discussion will continue at next month's meeting. 

  

7. INFORMATION ITEMS: 

a) Chamber of Commerce Activities - A report was attached which 

described some of the activities conducted by the Skamania County 

Chamber of Commerce in March, 2019. 

b) *Fire Department Report - A report was attached which described some 

of the activities conducted by the Fire Department in March, 2019. 

c) Municipal Court Cases Filed - A summary of Stevenson Municipal Court 

Cases recently filed were presented for Council's review. 

d) Planning Commission Minutes - Minutes were attached from the 

2/19/19 and 3/11/19 Planning Commission meetings. 

e) Sheriff's Report - A copy of the Skamania County Sheriff's report for 

March 2019 was attached for council review. 

f) 2019 Election Information - A flyer containing information on important 

dates and steps for filing candidacy for open positions was attached.  

There are three councilmember positions up in 2019 - Paul Hendricks, 

Position 3; Jenny Taylor, Position 4; and Matthew Knudsen, Position 5. 

The candidate winning the seat for Position 5 will serve the remainder of 

2019 and then a full four-year term beginning in 2020. 

g) Building Permits Issued - Building Inspector Karl Russell reported that 

there are 15 active SFRs, 1 active ADU/Garage, 1 active Tri-Plex 

9



(McCloskey), 1 Lodge Pavilion, 4 Cabins (Sikora), 1 Change of 

Occupancy-Hardware Store in Stevenson.  On the horizon are at least two 

more tree houses at the Lodge, Multi-family on the Storie property, 3 

SFRs in Hidden Ridge, 1 triplex and 1 townhouse on Vancouver (Cox's old 

lot).  North Bonneville has 1 active SFR, 1 active townhouse, 1 larger 

plumbing remodel for the Addiction Recovery Network building, 1 

sausage/butcher store finalized and 1 brewery/restaurant on the horizon 

(already OK'd by planning and DOE). 

h) *Financial Report - City Administrator Leana Kinley presented the City's 

Financial Report for year-to-date revenues and expenditures through 

March 31, 2019. 

8. CITY ADMINISTRATOR AND STAFF REPORTS: 

a) Eric Hansen, Public Works Director 

 

Contacted by Napa Auto Parts requesting a loading zone near their loading door. 

Proposing Monday through Friday 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. and will paint, maintain and provide 

signage. It would be an ordinance change. Woodrich suggested temporary loading zone 

until the downtown plan is adopted and council concurred.  

 

Russell Avenue is currently being fast tracked. Undergrounding scheduled for the 

summer. Council asked about the inconvenience to downtown businesses and Hansen 

confirmed it won't be limiting access to the water. Currently considering business 

agreements for awnings which are now considered an encroachment.  

 

Del Rey trail maintenance this Saturday. The downtown association will also be 

unveiling the new mural.  

 

b) Ben Shumaker, Community Development Director 

 

Connector trail to Pothole Road maintenance also underway on Saturday.  

 

The Planning Commission is close to being ready to forward the recommendation 

changes to the accessory dwelling unit (ADU) ordinances. This will likely come to City 

Council at the next meeting. 

 

The downtown plan is starting up. The city has held preliminary meetings and will push 

forward in May. 

 

10



The city followed up on a nuisance enforcement case for property owner who did 

clearing along shoreline of a fish bearing stream. Property owner chose to move 

forward with the Department of Natural Resources and they continued to clear without 

DNR oversight or support. At this point, it is a DNR case.  

 

c) Leana Kinley, City Administrator 

 

The phones at City Hall have been crackling and dropping calls. Kinley is currently 

working on an RFP for a phone system. 

 

City staff continues to struggle with the financial software system currently in use. Kinley 

looking into other systems, services and costs. 

 

The city staff is working on a CDBG survey that the state is funding. It involves income 

surveys in the community, both within the city limits as well as Fire District 2. The city 

will inform community members that it is a legitimate survey through press releases and 

mailings. Any funding could be applied to the new Fire Hall or other projects. 

 

The Department of Commerce Energy Grant decision for the smart meters has been 

delayed another month and a half.  

 

North Bonneville has determined that they do not want to be part of the pool district. 

With the district, five commissioner positions will be opened. Election in August will 

provide more information about the pool and how this moves forward. Pool 

representatives will be present at the next Council meeting to ask for money to get them 

through the year until the levy funding is available. 

 

The city is working with the Port Waterfront Project to move it forward and get the trail 

completed this year. Current challenges include cost and requested the city pay for one-

third of the estimated $10,000 in additional costs to revise and implement the Port’s 

mitigation planting plan. Kinley will bring an agreement forward regarding a current 

permit with the city for the shoreline. Shumaker noted that the Port will first get 

mitigation plan approval from the Corps and then, if necessary, further approval and 

permit revision with the city. 

 

The city received the fire needs assessment final report on the Fire Hall project. The 

report includes geotech and wetlands report. There have been discussions with staff 

regarding not moving forward with the Fire Hall project as is, but such discussions have 

not come forward to Council yet. To do so, Kinley says the Fire Department would have 

11



to reconsider their requirements. Weissfeld requested more discussion on the Fire Hall 

at the next Council meeting. 

 

Current Minute Taker Claire Baylor is relocating and will be replaced by Johanna Roe. 

Roe will start next month.  

 

Kinley will meet with the Washington Cities Insurance Agencies next week. 

 

The water plant roof is experiencing multiple leaks. Overall will be needing a new roof 

but will be considering smaller fixes in the meantime. One quote to tear off and redo is 

$200,000 to $300,000 dollars and one quote to roof over what's there is $80,000. In 

other water plant news, new coagulant being used has helped reduce some spiking.  

 

9. VOUCHER APPROVAL AND INVESTMENTS UPDATE: 

a) *March 2019 payroll & April 2019 A/P checks have been audited and are 

presented for approval. March payroll checks 13333 thru 13340 total 

$99,614.01 which includes one EFTPS and five ACH payments. A/P 

Checks 13332 and 13341 thru 13410 total $125,087.36 which includes 

two ACH payments. The A/P Check Register and Fund Transaction 

Summary are attached for your review.  Detailed claims vouchers will be 

available for review at the Council meeting. No investment activity in 

March 2019. 

 

Kinley noted that the vouchers currently in the agenda are different than what 

was sent out earlier in the day. Councilmember Weissfeld questioned a 

difference in the balance on the cover sheet from the supporting documentation.  

Kinley will review and present the vouchers at the next meeting for approval.  

10. MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS: 

 

Councilmember Hendricks 

 

Hendricks noted being approached by a resident recently regarding the building process 

and, in working with the city, how each step was held off by the completion of the step 

before. Hendricks asked about a checklist with all steps listed and Shumaker noted that 

there is a checklist. The city office staff is working on getting it included in packets and 

having it checked when people come into City Hall in the future. The process is a work 

in progress but the current checklist concern has been fixed. 

12



 

Councilmember Weissfeld 

 

The PDC passed a threshold in the number of people registered to vote in the county. 

As a result, Weissfeld was asked to submit a financial form and wanted to inform other 

elected officials to also submit the form. 

 

Weissfeld requested an update on the affordable housing project with the land trust 

discussed last month. She would like to have a conversation about the Chinidere 

property that has recently been put up for sale. 

 

The EDC terminated their contract with Radcomp and reported moving to another 

company provided financial savings. Anderson noted that the city does not have a 

contract with Radcomp as the services are different. 

 

11. ISSUES FOR THE NEXT MEETING: None  

 

12. EXECUTIVE SESSION - City Council convened in Executive Session under:  

a) RCW 42.30.110.1(i) to discuss with legal counsel representing the agency 

potential litigation. 

  

No decisions were made and staff was directed to proceed as discussed. 

13. ADJOURNMENT - Mayor adjourned the meeting at 8:26 p.m. 

================================================================= 

 
 
Approved __________; Approved with revisions ___________ 
 
 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
Name     Date 
 
 
Minutes by Claire Baylor  

13



FINDINGS OF FACT CONCERNING SFR IN C1 ZONE MORATORIUM RENEWAL – Page 1 

 

CITY OF STEVENSON 

RESOLUTION 2019-333 

 

ADOPTING FINDINGS OF FACTS SUPPORTING SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES IN 

THE C1 ZONE MORATORIUM RENEWAL ORDINANCE 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council for Stevenson, Washington previously approved Single-Family 

Residences in the C1 Zone Moratorium Ordinance No. 2018-1130 on December 6, 2018; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has not completed the downtown plan to address this issue; and  

 

WHEREAS, RCW 35A.63.220 requires a City to conduct a public hearing and adopt Findings of 

Fact supporting the moratorium; and 
 

WHEREAS, on May 16
th
 a public hearing was opened at a regular public meeting and the public 

and staff gave testimony concerning the single-family residences in the C1 zone construction 

moratorium. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Stevenson, Washington, does hereby resolve 

as follows: 
 

The City Council of the City of Stevenson adopts the following findings of fact: 

1. The City has listed in the 2013 Comprehensive Plan to, “consider allowing new single-

family development in the downtown area as conditional uses according to specific criteria 

such as the presence of lot sizes to small to support new commercial uses.” 

 

2. In October 19
th
 and 20

th
, 2018 council met and developed a strategic plan which included a 

goal for the downtown to increase the mixed-use development by 2024. 

 

3. The look and feel of the City’s downtown and waterfront districts are vital to the overall 

health of the City’s community and residents’ quality of life. 

 

4. Vacant lands within the downtown and waterfront districts are in very short supply. 

 

5. The City has begun the development of a downtown plan including a traffic study and 

design standards, which is expected to be complete by the October council meeting. 

 

6. The current C1 zone allows single-family residences and any property owner submitting a 

complete application for a new single-family residence would be vested to the code at the 

time of application. 

 

7. The city needs time to adopt reasonable standards for conditional uses in the C1 zone for 

single-family residences as outlined in the Comprehensive Plan to better protect the 

character and vitality of the community. 

 
 

14



FINDINGS OF FACT CONCERNING SFR IN C1 ZONE MORATORIUM RENEWAL – Page 2 

 

Passed by a vote of __________ at the regular city council meeting of May 16, 2019. 

 

 

_____________________________   _________________________ 

Scott Anderson     Leana Kinley 

Mayor of Stevenson     Clerk Treasurer 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

 

 

_____________________________ 

Kenneth B. Woodrich. City Attorney 

15



MORATORIUM ORDINANCE – Page 1 

 

City of Stevenson 

Ordinance No. 2019-1143 

AN ORDINANCE RELATED TO SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCES IN THE C1 ZONE 

OF THE CITY AND PURSUANT TO RCW 35A.63.220 AND OTHER APPROPRIATE 

AUTHORITY AUTHORIZING A MORATORIUM EXTENSION ON FURTHER NEW 

CONSTRUCTION OF SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCES AND APPLICATIONS FOR 

NEW CONSTRUCTION OF SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCES AS MORE 

PARTICULARLY SET FORTH HEREIN. 

WHEREAS, the City of Stevenson finds the need to regulate zoning standards for new 

construction of single-family residences (SFR) within the Commercial C1 zone; and 

WHEREAS, the City is in the process of reviewing its downtown zoning standards to address 

this issue, which will take time; and 

WHEREAS, a moratorium on further filing and processing of applications for the new 

construction of SFRs is necessary while the City completes the review of the appropriate zoning 

standards, or otherwise mitigates its impacts; and 

WHEREAS, the Stevenson City Council finds that the City's ability to preserve the look and 

feel of the city as outlined in the adopted Comprehensive Plan will be jeopardized unless 

this moratorium is authorized; and 

WHEREAS, the Stevenson City Council finds that the authorization of this moratorium is 

necessary to protect the health, welfare, safety and future economic viability of the City; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35A.63.220 provides that, "A council or board that adopts a moratorium or 

interim zoning control, without holding a public hearing on the proposed moratorium or interim 

zoning control, shall hold a public hearing on the adopted moratorium or interim zoning control 

within at least sixty days of its adoption, whether or not the council or board received a 

recommendation on the matter from the commission. If the council or board does not adopt 

findings of fact justifying its action before this hearing, then the council or board shall do so 

immediately after this public hearing. A moratorium or interim zoning control adopted under this 

section may be effective for not longer than six months, but may be effective for up to one year if 

a work plan is developed for related studies providing for such a longer period. A moratorium or 

interim zoning control may be renewed for one or more six-month periods if a subsequent public 

hearing is held and findings of fact are made prior to each renewal"; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 36.70A.390 provides that, "A county or city governing body that adopts a 

moratorium, interim zoning map, interim zoning ordinance, or interim official control without 

holding a public hearing on the proposed moratorium, RCW 35A.63.220 or RCW 36.70A.390, 

shall hold a public hearing on the adopted moratorium, interim zoning map, interim zoning 

ordinance, or interim official control within at least sixty days of its adoption, whether or not the 

governing body received a recommendation on the matter from the planning commission or 

16



MORATORIUM ORDINANCE – Page 2 

 

department. If the governing body does not adopt findings of fact justifying its action before this 

hearing, then the governing body shall do so immediately after this public hearing. A 

moratorium, interim zoning map, interim zoning ordinance, or interim official control adopted 

under this section may be effective for not longer than six months, but may be effective for up to 

one year if a work plan is developed for related studies providing for such a longer period. A 

moratorium, interim zoning map, interim zoning ordinance, or interim official control may be 

renewed for one or more six-month periods if a subsequent public hearing is held and findings of 

fact are made prior to each renewal"; and 

WHEREAS, moratoria and interim zoning control enacted under RCW 35.99.050, RCW 

35A.63.220 or RCW 36.70A.390 are methods by which local governments may preserve the 

status quo so that new plans and regulations will not be rendered moot or frustrated by 

intervening development; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35A.63.220 and RCW 36.70A.390 both authorize the enactment of a 

moratorium, interim zoning map, interim zoning ordinance, or interim official control without 

holding a public hearing; and 

WHEREAS, the Stevenson City Council previously adopted a moratorium on December 6, 2018 

which will expire on June 6, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the Stevenson City Council held a duly advertised public hearing on May 16, 2019, 

to consider public comment concerning the authorization of such moratorium; and 

WHEREAS, the Stevenson City Council adopted Findings of Fact as stated in Resolution No. 

2019-333 after the public and staff gave testimony at the public hearing; and 

WHEREAS, the Stevenson City Council finds that the best interests of the City would be served 

if such a moratorium extension was authorized. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STEVENSON, STATE 

OF WASHINGTON DO ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. A six (6) month moratorium extension is hereby imposed on accepting applications for 

new construction of single-family residences within any Commercial C1 zone (SMC Ch 17.25).  

As the term is used herein, “single-family residence” shall mean: 

A. “Single-family detached dwelling” as described in SMC table 17.13.010-1: Residence or 

Accommodation Uses, and 

B. Any construction of a mixed-use nature involving fewer than 2 dwelling units on a single 

lot. 

C. “Manufactured Home” as described in SMC table 17.13.010-1: Residence or 

Accommodation Uses, and 

D. “Modular Homes” as described in SMC table 17.13.010-1: Residence or Accommodation 

Uses. 

17



MORATORIUM ORDINANCE – Page 3 

 

Section 2. The moratorium imposed pursuant to Section 1 above may be extended for one or 

more additional six (6) month periods in the event a work plan or further study determines that 

such extension is necessary or to determine what further policies and procedures related to future 

new single-family residence applications will best serve the purposes of the City. 

Section 3. Severability. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or other portion of 

this Ordinance, or its application to any person, is, for any reason, declared invalid, in whole or 

in part by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction, said decision shall not affect the validity 

of the remaining portions hereof. 

Section 4. Effective date.  This ordinance shall become effective following passage and publication 

as provided by law. 

 

ADOPTED this 16
th

 day of May, 2019. 

CITY OF STEVENSON 

 

 

___________________________ 

Scott Anderson, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________ 

Leana Kinley, Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

__________________________ 

Kenneth B. Woodrich, City Attorney 

  

 

18



Page 1 of 4 
 

City of Stevenson 
Planning Department 

 

(509)427-5970  7121 E Loop Road, PO Box 371 
Stevenson, Washington 98648 

 

TO: City Council 
FROM: Ben Shumaker 
DATE: May 16th, 2018 

SUBJECT: Zoning Code Amendments – Use Table Clean-Up, Codifying Interpretations, & ADUs 
 

Introduction 

This memo provides the City Council with 1) a description of the 3 types of Zoning Code Amendments being 
recommended by the Planning Commission through the attached ordinance and 2) an incomplete summary of the 
public involvement measures taken by the Planning Department leading up to the recommendation. This memo 
should be treated as a companion memo to the letter prepared by the Planning Commission highlighting specific 
aspects of their discussion and recommendations for Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs). 

Potential Action 
If the City Council is satisfied with the Planning Commission’s recommended amendment it can adopt the changes 
at the meeting tonight.  

Amendment Categories 
Use Table Clean-Up 
The City’s Zoning Code has been a living document and amended several times since the original framework was 
adopted in 1994. These several layers of amendments by different authors and based on different needs result in a 
regulatory system that can be confusing and unwieldy.  

As an initial step to rationalize the regulatory system, the City’s Zoning Code amendment in 2017 reformatted the 
use categories, descriptions and tables of the Zoning Code. The reformat laid bare inconsistencies within the 
existing system and intentionally content changes to correct those inconsistencies.  

Uses related to Food Services supply an effective example. The Zoning Code currently identifies the following 6 
types of Food Services Uses: 

Current Proposed
1. Food Services 

b. Food and Drink Service Facility, 
c. Food or Beverage Operation 
d. Food or Beverage Operation with Drive-Through 

Service 
e. Lounge 
f. Restaurant 
g. Snack Bar 

1. Food Service 
c. Drive-Through Food Service 
g. Mobile-Food Cart 
h. Tasting Room 

 
 

 

There is nothing in the current Code to distinguish between a “Food and Drink Service Facility” use and a “Food or 
Beverage Operation” use and there is no indication of why the 2 uses might be regulated differently. The proposal 
before you eliminates these and other redundancies and provides more clarity on the use categories that remain, 
2 of which are based on past Planning Commission interpretations. 

19



Page 2 of 4 
 

 

Codifying Planning Commission Interpretations 
Through SMC 17.12.020, the City Council has provided a method for unlisted uses to be considered and allowed 
in particular zoning districts without the delays associated with a full Zoning Code amendment. This section 
includes instructions to catalogue the uses to facilitate amendments such as those proposed here.  

As an example, in 2013, the Planning Commission was asked whether a “Storage Unit Facility” was included within 
the C1 Commercial District’s then-existing use category of “Retail sales, personal and other services, and rental 
operations”. In their decision, the Planning Commission said that Storage Unit Facilities were both 1) not included 
in that category and 2) not of the same general character as the other uses allowed in the C1 District. The 
amendment recommended for you separates “Self-Storage Unit” uses out as a distinct use category and codifies 
the Planning Commission interpretation that such uses should be prohibited in the C1 District. 

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) 
At the request of the Mayor, the Planning Commission was asked to review whether the City should be allowing 
Detached ADUs in addition to the Attached ADUs which are currently allowed. After their review, the Planning 
Commission has recommended that Detached ADUs should be allowed, and recommended several changes to 
SMC 17.40.040 to clarify how and under what circumstances they should be allowed. Their solutions involve an 
amnesty clause (similar to one adopted by Skamania County in 2017) whereby unpermitted existing ADUs could 
be recognized as a valid use. 

Public Involvement 
As the initial step in the review of these recommended amendments, the Planning Commission established their 
expectations for public involvement. In addition to the mandatory requirements (such as tonight’s public hearing), 
the Planning Commission sought a more robust effort related to the ADU discussion. This effort was to include 1) 
a press release in the Pioneer introducing the project and 2) a community questionnaire to gain a more complete 
perspective from interested shareholders. As part of the community questionnaire, respondents were asked to 
provide their email if they wished to remain informed on this process. 

Press Release 
On January 23rd, 2019 a joint press release by the Stevenson and Skamania County Community Development 
departments was published in the Skamania County Pioneer. This publication included a graphic to describe the 
different configurations of ADUs, a link to the community questionnaire, information about the City’s amendment 
process, and a notice to County property owners about the upcoming deadline for their amnesty clause. 

Community Questionnaire 
Protocols – The ADU questionnaire was created using www.surveymonkey.com and mimicked by a paper-based 

questionnaire at the front counter of City Hall. A link to the questionnaire was placed in the Skamania County 
Pioneer as part of a 1/23/19 press release by the City and County planning departments regarding the ADU 
topic. On 1/31/19 and 2/7/19, the link was included in an email from the Skamania County Chamber of 
Commerce to the members of their Columbia Currents and Under Currents newsletters. Responses were not 
accepted after 2/11/19 (which became an issue after both the Pioneer and the Chamber of Commerce 
continued to run notices after the time initially requested). 

Questions – Five (5) questions were asked on the questionnaire. Respondents’ own relationship with ADUs was 
explored through the first question. Their feelings about ADUs near them was the topic of the second 
question. The third question was open-ended and allowed respondents to share any specific concerns about 
ADUs. The fourth question asked where the respondent lives and the fifth provided a mechanism for 
respondents to further engage with the City as this topic is addressed.  

20



Page 3 of 4 
 

Response Rate – The City received 23 responses from the web-based questionnaire, 10 of which were received 
when after the press release to the Pioneer was published, but before any other public notifications occurred. 
An additional 9 paper-based questionnaires were completed for a total of 32 respondents.  

Question 1 – Half of the respondents either did not respond to this question or said it did not apply to them. Of 
those that responded, the vast majority stated they would consider adding, or would rent ADUs: 

Question 1: Please select the options that best describe you: 
Answer Attached ADUs Detached ADUs 

I would consider adding 44% 56% 
My property currently has 3% 9% 
I would rent from others 6% 13% 
I currently rent from others 0% 0% 
n/a or blank 50% 28% 

 

Question 2 – All respondents answered this question, less than one quarter of respondents are opposed to ADUs. 
Question 2: Please tell us how you feel about ADUs in your neighborhood: 
Answer Attached ADUs Detached ADUs 

I support the ability for others to establish these in 
my neighborhood 

69% 66% 

I neither support or oppose these in my 
neighborhood  

16% 13% 

I am opposed to allowing others to establish these in 
my neighborhood 

16% 22% 

blank 0% 0% 
 

Question 3 – Nearly half (15) of respondents chose to answer the open-ended question. The specific responses 
are shown and summarized in the table below. Responses are shown in reverse chronological order from 
when they were received. 

Question 3: If you are opposed to ADUs or have any concerns about how they would be used, please tell us why. 
Topic # Responses Code Response 

Neighborhood Character 5 Combination of 10 existing and 1 draft restrictions 
Vacation Rental 4 Drafted in orange 
Parking 2 Previously addressed 
Septic/Sewerage 2 Not addressed 
Traffic 1 Not addressed 
Other 4 Not addressed 
Show of Support 3 Proposed allowance 

Answer 
I am concerned that these dwellings would be used as secondary rental properties. We built our home in Stevenson because of 
the spacious neighborhood areas. 
Compromise neighborhood integrity 
Opposed because they'll be available to be used as Airbnbs for extra revenue 
Noise, barking dogs, garbage, disrepair and maintenance. 
I am not opposed in any way. 
My main concerns are parking issues where there isn’t street parking, and having a limit on number of people renting at a time. 
I’m fine with a room/kitchen for rent for a couple or small family but I wouldn’t like a large wedding party or wine tasting 
weekend for big group, etc. simply for capacity reasons for some of the smaller lots and those of us who are closer to our 
neighbors. 
With the increase in Population Carson really needs a public Sewer System…we Must also consider the need for Schools, 
Expansion of all necessary Services, etc 
Deeds for lots in this area specify minimum size of about 1/3 acre, and assume single family use. ADUs would amount to 
subdivision in violation of deeds and a change of fundamental character. 
I don’t agree with ADUs as a solution to housing. It puts single family neighborhoods at risk of becoming high traffic short-term 
rental areas. We already have issues with neighbors who have a high occupancy Air BnBs and it’s greatly increased traffic in our 21



Page 4 of 4 
 

quiet neighborhood, plus, there is an influx of transients because of the short-term rentals. It’s very disruptive to our quiet area. 
We had to put up a gate to stop the constant traffic into our driveway. This policy opens the door to short-term rentals that don’t 
belong in neighborhoods. Trying to solve one problem would create another problem, plus, who would enforce. 
I feel some would use this to add additional dwelling for monetary reasons. 
The air bNBs are already a problem in the county. This would make it worse. Also, it should NEVER be allowed on home sites with 
septic systems. 
Should be subject to same rules and regs as houses and other rentals 
ADUs are a very good idea. 
I don't see a problem with it. 
Some recommendations regarding parking may be a good thing to figure out if there is a higher density of these properties. 

 

Question 4 – The home respondents where respondents identified is included below. 
Question 4: In which jurisdiction do you live? 
Skamania County Stevenson North Bonneville Other  

53% 41% 3% 3% 
 

Question 5 – Thirteen (13) individual respondents provided their email address and asked to be notified as part of 
the City’s ongoing discussion of ADUs. 

Mailing List/Planning Commission Workshops 
The 13 community members providing their email address were added to a mailing list to receive notices in 
advance of the Planning Commission workshops. These workshops occurred in February, March, April, and May of 
this year. The mailing list was also notified of this Public Hearing. Attendance at Planning Commission meetings 
and written comments based on the mailing list were limited. 

Other Issues 
During the Planning Commission’s review and recommendation, they also considered changes to the use 
categories, descriptions and allowances for single-family dwelling units, especially as those categories related to 
the C1 Commercial District. Based on the current moratorium and controversies, the Planning Commission chose 
not to recommend any of the changes they considered. 
 

Prepared by, 

 

Ben Shumaker 
Community Development Director 
 
Attachments 

- Planning Commission Letter 
- Recommended Draft Ordinance 2019-1141 

22



Page 1 of 1 
 

City of Stevenson 
Planning Commission 

 

(509)427-5970  7121 E Loop Road, PO Box 371 
Stevenson, Washington 98648 

 

TO: City Council 
FROM: Planning Commission 
DATE: May 13th, 2019 

SUBJECT: Recommended Ordinance Changes 
 

Dear Mayor Anderson and City Council Members, 

Thank you for the opportunity to guide the process for the draft change to the Zoning Code. With this letter, we 
want to provide additional rationale on some issues we feel strongly about. 

1) UTILITY EQUITY. In changing the description of Accessory Dwelling Unit, we are removing something we 
believe is completely illogical. The previous description forced the utility systems to treat ADUs the same 
as a single-family dwelling. We are happy to remove the decision making authority from Zoning Code on 
that issue, and we want to make sure the Council takes the conversation even further; we believe ADUs 
must also be subject to Systems Development Charges for our municipal water and sewer systems. An 
ADU is still a dwelling unit, and it would be short-sighted to ignore their impact on our sewer systems. It 
would also be unfair for the users of those systems to bear the cost of ADUs impact. They must bear their 
equitable share. The exact amount and procedures to collect these charges are up to the City Council, but 
it must be considered. 

2) “McADUs”. In recommending to allow Detached ADUs, we include provisions we believe will preserve 
neighborhood character. This includes a different maximum size for Detached ADUs, one that is not tied 
to the size of the primary dwelling unit. We have aligned our recommended size (800 square feet) with 
the maximum size Skamania County adopted in their 2017 amendment.  

3) ASSUMPTION OF TRUST. When the City developed its licensing registry for Vacation Rental Homes, the 
program was built on public involvement and the principle to “begin with an assumption of trust” 
regarding the impact of Vacation Rental Homes on the housing market. At this time, we see no reason to 
disregard that principle. In the community questionnaire conducted for this amendment, only 12.5% of 
respondents expressed concerns about ADUs being used as Vacation Rental Homes. We believe some of 
that concern is rooted in current discussions happening within unincorporated Skamania County, which 
does not yet have a registry program. 
Until our program generates enough information to cause us to rethink the allowance for Vacation Rental 
Homes in all types of dwelling units, we believe it fair to allow them in this particular type of dwelling unit. 

We hope this letter assists the City Council’s review of our recommendation. If there are any major changes to the 
ordinance we recommend, then we would appreciate an opportunity to have additional discussions on this matter. 

Respectfully, 

 

Karen Ashley, Vice-Chair 
Stevenson Planning Commission 23



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 1 of 10 

CITY OF STEVENSON 
ORDINANCE 2019-1141 

AMENDING THE STEVENSON ZONING CODE (SMC 
TITLE 17); ALLOWING DETACHED ACCESSORY 
DWELLING UNITS; CLARIFYING THE USE 
CATEGORIES WITHIN SMC 17.13.020 AND SMC 17.13.050; 
AND REPEALING PORTIONS OF ORDINANCES 1073, 
2017-1103 AND 2017-1104. 

WHEREAS, in 1998 the City of Stevenson adopted Ordinance 950 which amended the City of 
Stevenson Zoning Code and began allowing Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) within the SR 
Suburban Residential and R1 Single-Family Residential zoning districts subject to several 
restrictions, including a requirement that ADUs must be attached to the primary dwelling unit; 
and  

WHEREAS, in 2009 and 2013 the City of Stevenson adopted Ordinance 1030 and Ordinance 
2013-1073, respectively, which relaxed the standards and permitting process requirements for 
development of ADUs; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Stevenson desires to further relax the development standards for ADUs, 
especially the requirement involving ADU attachment to the primary unit; and 

WHEREAS, in 2017 the City of Stevenson adopted Ordinance 2017-1103 which reformatted 
the Zoning Code to provide a rational system of use classifications, use descriptions, and use 
allowance tables; and  

WHEREAS, the development of Ordinance 2017-1103 identified several irregularities 
(redundancies, inconsistencies, and conflicts) as they related to the content of the previous 
categorization of uses; and 

WHEREAS, while the content-based irregularities of Ordinance 2017-1103 partially 
undermined the rational system the previous ordinance sought to achieve, the adoption of the 
system was prioritized for action and the existing content-based irregularities were set aside to be 
addressed at a later date; and 

WHEREAS, specific content-based irregularities identified within the use classifications for 
General Sales or Service Uses (SMC 17.13.020), and Arts, entertainment and Recreation Uses 
(SMC 17.13.050) are addressed through the amendments in this ordinance; and  

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed several use interpretations under SMC 
17.12.020, which have not been yet been included in the periodic amendments to the Zoning 
Code; and 

WHEREAS, the following use interpretations have been reviewed for inclusion in the periodic 
amendment included in this ordinance: 

• ZON2009-02 related to Light Industrial uses in the C1-Commercial District, 
• ZON2011-03 related to Concession Activity uses in the PR Public Use & Recreation 

District, 
• ZON2013-03 related to Carwash and Storage Unit Facility uses in the C1 District, 
• ZON2013-04 related to Craft Distillery Tasting Room uses in the M1-Light Industrial 

District, 
• ZON2015-03 related to Winery, Cidery, and Brewery Tasting Room uses in the M1 

District, 
• ZON2016-05 related to Mobile Food Cart uses in the M1 District, 
• ZON2016-06 related to Wedding/Reception Venue uses in the SR-Suburban Residential 

District; and 

WHEREAS, the provisions herein are intended to implement Goals 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, and 9 of the 
Stevenson Comprehensive Plan as well as the following specific objectives and tactics of the 
plan: 1.5, 1.6-1, 2.13, 2.13-1, 2.14, 2.15, 3.1, 3.2, 3.2-1, 3.6, 3.8, 6.3, 6.3-3, 6.5, 9.7 and 9.10; and 

24



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 2 of 10 

WHEREAS, the City has determined these regulations to be Categorically Exempt (WAC 197-
11-800(19)(b)) from the threshold determination requirements of  the State Environmental Policy 
Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed and recommended that the City Council 
approve these amendments;  

AND WHEREAS, the Stevenson City Council finds that the best interests of the public health, 
safety and welfare would be served by the amendments herein,  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STEVENSON, STATE 
OF WASHINGTON DO ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1 – Use 1.f. of SMC Table 17.13.010-1 Residence or Accommodation Uses, originally 
adopted through Section 3.B.2 of Ordinance 2017-1103, shall be amended by 
deleting the struck-through text and adding the underlined text as follows:  

 f. Accessory Dwelling Unit 
(ADU) 

An ancillary (i.e., secondary) dwelling unit located on the same legal lot as 
a primary dwelling unit., having its own living, kitchen, sleeping and 
bathroom facilities, within or attached to the primary dwelling unit. An 
ADU is distinguishable from a duplex in that, unlike a duplex unit, it is 
clearly subordinate to the primary dwelling in terms of size, use and 
appearance, and has common utility connections and the same address as 
the primary unitmay be located in zoning districts which do not otherwise 
allow Multi-Family Dwellings.  

RCW 35A.63.230, 
RCW 43.63A.215, 
SMC 17.40.040 

 

Section 2 – Stevenson Municipal Code Table 17.13.020-1 General Sales or Service Uses, 
originally adopted through Section 3.C.2 of Ordinance 2017-1103, shall be amended 
by deleting the struck-through text and adding the underlined text as follows: 

Table 17.13.020-1: General Sales or Service Uses 
Use Description Reference 
1. Automobile Service 

Station 
A retail commercial establishment for the sale on the premises of motor 
vehicle fuel, including electrical energy, and other petroleum products 
and automobile accessories, and for the servicing, lubrication and minor 
repair of automotive vehicles. Unless specifically listed in the district, 
Automobile Service Sstations include Battery Exchange Stations, Vehicle 
Repair, Carwashes and Public Access, Rapid Charging EV Stations.  

RCW 35A.63.107 

 a. Battery Exchange 
Station 

A staffed or fully automated facility that will enable an electric vehicle 
with a swappable battery to enter a drive lane and exchange the 
depleted battery with a fully charged battery through a process which 
meets or exceeds any standards, codes, and requirements set forth by 
Chapter 19.28 RCW and consistent with rules adopted under RCW 
19.27.540. 

RCW 19.27.540, 
RCW 19.28 

 b. Carwash   
2. c. Vehicle Repair   
3. Electric Vehicle (EV) 

Station 
A public or private parking space (1)served by equipment designed 
specifically to transfer electric energy (by conductive or inductive means) 
to a battery or other energy storage device in an electric vehicle, (2) 
meets or exceeds any standards, codes, and regulations set forth by 
Chapter 19.28 RCW, and (3) is consistent with rules adopted under RCW 
19.27.540. Electric vehicle stations are distinguished by the following 
types of access and charging levels: 

RCW 19.27.540, 
RCW 19.28, RCW 
35A.63.107 

 a. EV Station Access 1. "Public Access EV Station" is available for use by the general public and 
not located on a public right-of-way. Examples include stations at a park 
& ride lot, a public library lot or a shopping center lot.  
2. "Restricted Access EV Station" is restricted to authorized users and not 
located on a public right-of-way. Examples include stations at a single-
family home, designated employee parking areas, or fleet parking areas 
not accessible to the general public.  
3. "Street-Side Access EV Station" is available for use by the general 
public and located on a public right-of-way subject to the rules adopted 
under SMC 12.02 - Use of City Rights-of-Way. 

RCW 12.02 

25



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 3 of 10 

 b. EV Station 
Charging Level 

Charging level categorizes the indicators of electrical force, or voltage, at 
which an electric vehicle's battery is charged:  
1. "Gradual Charging EV Station" operates on a circuit no greater than 
240 volts of alternating current. This includes what the industry currently 
refers to as levels 1 and 2 charging stations.  
>2. "Rapid Charging EV Station" operates on an industrial grade outlet 
greater than 240 volts of alternating current. This includes what the 
industry currently refers to as Level 3 charging stations. 

 

4. Retail Sales Commercial establishments providing merchandise for sale directly to the 
consumer. Retail establishments may also provide after-sales services, 
such as repair and installation. Unless specifically listed in the district, 
Retail Sales include all subcategories listed herein. 

 

6. a. Outdoor 
Recreational Store 
equipment sales 
and repair for 
such activities as 
water sports, 
bicycling, skiing, 
fishing, 
photography, 
camping and 
hiking 

A Retail use specializing in sporting goods or equipment related to 
outdoor recreational endeavors (e.g., water sports, bicycling, skiing, 
fishing, photography, camping and hiking). 

 

7. b. Specialty Food 
Shop 

A Retail use carrying specialty food items (e.g., coffee, tea, confectionery 
products, nuts, spices, gourmet foods, etc.). 

 

5. c. Specialty Rretail 
Sshops when 
associated with a 
principal use 
permitted outright 
in the district 

A Retail use specializing in one type or line of merchandise (e.g., antiques, 
apparel, books, games, jewelry, shoes, stationary, etc.). 

 

8. d. Retail and 
wholesale sales of 
agricultural and 
animal products 
raised or 
produced on the 
premises. 

  

9. Bank or Financial 
Institution 

  

10. Rental Operations Commercial establishments providing tangible goods (e.g., personal 
items, consumer electronics, furniture, clothing, tools, machinery, 
equipment, etc.) or other items of value to customers in exchange for a 
periodic rental or lease payment. Unless specifically listed in the district, 
Rental Operation includes all subcategories listed herein. 

 

11. a. Recreational 
Equipment Rental 
for such activities 
as water sports, 
bicycling, skiing, 
fishing, 
photography, 
camping and 
hiking 

A Rental Operation leasing equipment for recreational activities (e.g., 
water sports, bicycling, skiing, fishing, photography, camping and hiking). 

 

 b. Self-Storage Units A Rental Operation leasing space (i.e., rooms, compartments, lockers, 
containers, or outdoor space) where clients store and retrieve personal 
property. 

 

 c. Truck, trailer or 
equipment rental 

A Rental Operation leasing large vehicles and equipment (e.g., trucks, 
moving vans, buses, semi-trailers, utility trailers, travel trailers, 
recreational vehicles, off-road vehicles, etc.) when drivers or operators 
are not provided. 

 

14. Professional Office Commercial establishments performing professional, scientific, clerical, 
and technical services for others. Unless specifically listed in the district, 
Professional Office includes all subcategories listed herein. 

 

13. a. Veterinarian   
15. Office, Clerical or Research Activity  
16. Offices that are an integral part of the on-premises principal use  

26



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 4 of 10 

17. Food Services Commercial establishments preparing and serving food and/or beverages 
for consumption on or off the premises. Unless specifically listed in the 
district, Food Service includes all subcategories listed herein. 

 

 a. Food and Drink Service Facility  
 b. Food or Beverage Operation  
 c. Food or Beverage 

Operation with 
Drive-Through 
Food Service 

  

 d. Lounge   
 e. Restaurant   
 f. Snack Bar   
 g. Mobile-Food Cart A Food Service use that is conducted from a motorized vehicle, a non-

motorized cart or a unit that is similarly designed to be readily movable. 
 

 h. Tasting Room A Food Service use conducted as an incidental use to an on-premises 
brewery, cidery, distillery, winery or food processing use. A Tasting Room 
providing food service products from the on-premises processing use 
may also serve food and beverages processed at off-premises 
establishments. 

 

18. Child Day Care Facility A building or structure in which an agency, person or persons regularly 
provide care for a group of children for periods of less than 24 hours. 
Child Day Care Facility includes family day care home, mini-day care 
center, and child day care center. 

RCW 35.63.170, 
RCW 35A.63.210, 
RCW 35A.63.215 

 a. Family Day Care 
Home 

A day care home for the care of 6 or fewer children during part of the 24-
hour day, located in the dwelling of the provider under whose direct care 
the children are placed. 

 

 b. Mini-Day Care 
Center 

A child day care facility providing care during part of the 24-hour day to 
12 or fewer children in a facility other than the family dwelling of the 
person or persons under whose direct care the children are placed, or for 
the care of 7 through 12 children in the family dwelling of such person or 
persons. 

 

 c. Child Day Care 
Center 

A day care facility that provides for the care of 13 or more children. If 
located in a private family residence, the portion where the children have 
access must be separate from the family living quarters, or that portion of 
where the children have access must be used exclusively for their care 
during the hours that the child day care center is operating. 

 

19. Personal and Other 
Services 

Commercial establishments providing individual services generally related 
to personal needs. Unless specifically listed in the district, Personal 
Services includes all subcategories listed herein. 

 

12. a. Recreational 
Sservices, 
including lessons 
and tours for such 
activities as water 
sports, bicycling, 
skiing, fishing, 
photography, 
camping and 
hiking 

A Personal Services use providing services related to recreational 
amenities, including lessons and tours for such activities as water sports, 
bicycling, skiing, fishing, photography, camping and hiking. 

 

20. Home Occupation A commercial activity that: (a) is conducted by a person on the same 
residential district lot where such person resides; (b) provides each 
outside employee with a legal off-street parking space; and (d) is not so 
insubstantial or incidental or is not so commonly associated with the 
residential use as to be regarded as an accessory use (see SMC 
17.10.020), but that can be conducted without any significantly adverse 
impact on the surrounding neighborhood.  
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, a use may be regarded 
as having a significantly adverse impact on the surrounding neighborhood 
if: (a) goods, stock in trade, or other commodities are displayed; (b) more 
than 2 nonresidents on the premises are employed in connection with 
the purported home occupation; (c) it creates objectionable noise, fumes, 
odor, dust or electrical interference; (d) there is any exterior 
manifestation of the home occupation, except for an allowed sign no 
larger than 2 square feet pertaining to the home occupation; or (e) more 
than 25% of the total gross floor area of residential buildings plus other 
buildings housing the purported home occupation, or more than 500 

SMC 17.10.020 

27



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 5 of 10 

square feet of gross floor area (whichever is less), is used for home 
occupation purposes. 

 

Section 3 – Stevenson Municipal Code Table 17.13.050-1 Arts, Entertainment and Recreation 
Uses, originally adopted through Section 3.F.2 of Ordinance 2017-1103, shall be 
amended by deleting the struck-through text and adding the underlined text as 
follows: 

Table 17.13.050-1: Arts, Entertainment and Recreation Uses 
Use Description Reference 
2. Public Assembly A facility for groups of people to gather for events relating to culture, 

education, amusement or entertainment (e.g., theaters, performing arts 
auditoriums, and outdoor amphitheaters, public meeting halls, etc.). 
Public assemblies within a school or school support facility should not 
conflict with the primary educational purpose of the school. Unless 
specifically listed in the district, Public Assembly includes all 
subcategories listed herein. 

 

1. a. Theater   
 b. Wedding Venue A Public Assembly where groups gather to witness and/or celebrate a 

wedding. When similar activities occur on a property which are 
associated with the family—related by blood or marriage--of the 
property’s occupant, the activity is not considered a Wedding Venue 
under this category. 

 

3. Public Meeting Halls and Support Service Facilities  
4. Educational, cCultural 

Attractionand related 
facilities; including 
necessary support 
facilities such as 
dormitories, 
classrooms, study halls, 
food service, 
laboratories, storage, 
workshops, 
maintenance activities 
and outdoor exhibits 

A use displaying, preserving, exhibiting, and/or interpreting objects of 
historic, community, or cultural interest in one or more of the arts or 
sciences. Cultural Attraction includes museums, outdoor exhibits, 
information kiosks and displays. Accessory support facilities for Cultural 
Attractions include dormitories, classrooms, study halls, laboratories, 
storage, workshops, maintenance activities, etc. 

 

5. Places of public assembly for events relating to culture, education, amusement and entertainment, 
including theaters, performing arts auditoriums and outdoor amphitheaters 

 

6. New places of public assembly for events relating to culture, education, amusement and 
entertainment, including theaters, performing arts auditoriums and outdoor amphitheaters 

 

7. Replacement or expansion of places of public assembly for events relating to culture, education, 
amusement and entertainment, including theaters, performing arts auditoriums and outdoor 
amphitheater 

 

8. County Ffairgrounds 
and related exhibit 
buildings, structures, 
stadiums and arenas 

An area wherein buildings, structures, stadiums and arenas are used for 
agricultural exhibitions (e.g., animal shows and judging, rodeos, sales and 
auctions, etc.), carnivals, games, rides, concerts, performances, 
community events, etc. Seasonal uses incidental to operation of the 
County Fairgrounds include retail sales, food services, etc. Such seasonal 
uses support the Skamania County Fair and other events and festivals 
typically occurring only once per calendar year. Similar uses supporting 
year-round or regularly scheduled events (e.g., fitness, community 
education, recreation classes, etc.) are not permitted. 

 

9. Seasonal uses incidental to operation of the Skamania County Fair, open air concerts and 
performances, retail sales, concessions and carnivals 

 

10. Historical and educational exhibits, buildings and structures, information kiosks and displays  
11. Park, Playground or 

Outdoor Recreation 
Area 

  

12. Golf Course   
13. Recreation and Ffitness 

Ffacilityies, such as 
swimming pools, tennis 
courts, game rooms, 
golf courses and other 
recreational facilities 

Public or private facilities (e.g., swimming pools, tennis courts, game 
rooms, restroom and shower facilities, etc.) for recreational endeavors 
and services. Such facilities may involve fee- or membership-based 
admission, provide fitness services, coordinate recreational sports 
groups, etc. 

 

28



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 6 of 10 

normally associated 
with tourist 
development 

14. Public or private recreation and fitness facility, including swimming pools, tennis courts, game 
rooms, restroom and shower facilities, open space and pathways, and other recreational facilities 

 

15. Use of a school or school support facility for community recreation, education, meeting space, and 
like uses that do not conflict with the primary educational purpose of the school 

 

16. Public and private recreation facilities, restroom and shower facilities, open space and pathways, 
campgrounds; provided that the overnight camping other than in approved campgrounds or as 
authorized by Skamania County for seasonal county fairground use is prohibited. 

 

 

Section 4 – The use categories for “Veterinarian” and “Professional Office” and the use 
classification containing “Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation” uses in SMC Table 
17.15.040-1 Residential Districts Use Table, originally adopted through Section 
5.D.2.1 of Ordinance 2017-1103 shall be amended by deleting the struck-through 
text, adding the underlined text. All other use categories, classifications and table 
notes shall remain in effect without amendment: 

Table 17.15.040-1 Residential Districts Use Table 
Use R1 R2 R3 MHR SR 
General Sales or Service Uses           
Veterinarian - - - - C 
Professional Office - C C - - 
  Veterinarian - - - - C 
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation Uses      

Public Assembly - - - - - 
  Wedding Venue - - - - C 
Park, Playground or Outdoor Recreation Area C C C C C 
Golf Course - - - - C 

 

Section 5 – The use classifications containing “General Sales or Service” and “Arts, 
Entertainment, and Recreation” uses in SMC Table 17.25.040-1 Trade Districts Use 
Table, originally adopted through Section 9.D.2.1 of Ordinance 2017-1103, shall be 
amended by deleting the struck-through text and adding the underlined text as 
follows. All other use categories, classifications and table notes shall remain in effect 
without amendment: 

Table 17.25.040-1 Trade Districts Use Table 
Use CR C1 M1 
General Sales or Service Uses    

Automobile Service Station - C - 
 Vehicle Repair - C3 - 
 Carwash - P - 

Vehicle Repair - C3 - 
Electric Vehicle Station    

 Restricted Access, Gradual Charging EV Station A A A 
 Restricted Access, Rapid charging EV Station A A A 
 Public Access, Gradual Charging EV Station A A A 

  Street-Side Access, Gradual Charging EV Station C C C 
Retail sales - P - 

 Outdoor Recreation Store P - - 
 Specialty Food Shop P - - 
 Specialty Retail Shop C12 - - 

Specialty retail shops when associated with a principal use permitted 
outright in the district C - - 

Recreational equipment sales and repair for such activities as water 
sports, bicycling, skiing, fishing, photography, camping and hiking P - - 

29



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 7 of 10 

Specialty Food Shop P - - 
Bank or Financial Institution - P - 
Rental Operations - PP4 - 

 Recreational Equipment Rental P - - 
 Self-Storage Units - X - 
 Truck, Trailer or Equipment Rental - P4 - 

Recreational equipment rental for such activities as water sports, 
bicycling, skiing, fishing, photography, camping and hiking P - - 

Recreational services, including lessons and tours for such activities 
as water sports, bicycling, skiing, fishing, photography, camping and 
hiking 

P - - 

Professional Office - - A/C13 
Office, Clerical or Research Activity - P - 
Offices that are an integral part of the on-premises principal use - - P 
Food Services P P - 

 Food and Drink Service Facility P - - 
 Food or Beverage Operation - P - 
 Food or Beverage Operation with Drive-Through Food Service - C - 
 Lounge P - - 
 Restaurant P - - 

 Snack Bar P - - 
 Mobile Food Cart - - C 
 Tasting Room - - A 
Child Day Care Facility    

 
Family Day Care Home - P - 

 Child Day Care Center - C - 
Personal and other sServices - P -  

Recreation Services P - - 
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation Uses    

Theater - P - 
Public Assembly P- P - 

Educational, cCultural Attractionand related facilities; including 
necessary support facilities such as dormitories, classrooms, study 
halls, food service, laboratories, storage, workshops, maintenance 
activities and outdoor exhibits 

P - - 

Places of public assembly for events relating to culture, education, 
amusement and entertainment, including theaters, performing arts 
auditoriums and outdoor amphitheaters 

P - - 

Park, Playground or Outdoor Recreation Area C C C 
Golf Course P - - 

Recreation and Ffitness Ffacilityies, such as swimming pools, tennis 
courts, game rooms, and other recreational facilities normally 
associated with tourist development 

P - - 

 5- The activity shall be an integral part of, or subordinate to, an on-premises principal 
use. 

 12-Specialty retail shops in the CR District must be associated with a principal use 
permitted outright in the district. 

 13-Offices that are an integral part of the on-premises principal use do not require a 
conditional use permit. 

 

Section 6 – The use category for “Campground” and the use classifications containing “General 
Sales or Service” and “Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation” uses in SMC Table 
17.35.040-1 Public Districts Use Table, originally adopted through Section 7.DD.2.1 
of Ordinance 2017-1103, shall be amended by deleting the struck-through text and 
adding the underlined text as follows. All other use categories, classifications and 
table notes shall remain in effect without amendment: 

30



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 8 of 10 

Table 17.35.040-1 Public Districts Use Table 
Use PR ED 
Residence or Accommodation Uses     
 Campground C/P5- X 
General Sales or Service Uses     
Automobile Service Station - - 
 Vehicle Repair - A1 
Rental Operation - - 

 Recreational Equipment Rental A - 
Electric Vehicle Station   

 Restricted Access, Gradual Charging EV Station A A 
 Restricted Access, Rapid Ccharging EV Station A A 
 Public Access, Gradual Charging EV Station A A 

 Street-Side Access, Gradual Charging EV Station C C 
Child Day Care Facility   

 Family Day Care Home - P 
 Mini-Day Care Center - P 
 Child Day Care Center - P 

Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation Uses     
Public Assembly P A/C6 
Cultural Attraction P - 
Public Meeting Hall and Support Service Facility P - 

New places of public assembly for events relating to culture, 
education, amusement and entertainment, including theaters, 
performing arts auditoriums and outdoor amphitheaters 

- C 

Replacement or expansion of places of public assembly for events 
relating to culture, education, amusement and entertainment, 
including theaters, performing arts auditoriums and outdoor 
amphitheaters 

- A 

County Ffairgrounds and related exhibit buildings, structures, 
stadiums and arenas P - 

Seasonal uses incidental to operation of the Skamania County Fair, 
open air concerts and performances, retail sales, concessions and 
carnivals 

A - 

Historical and educational exhibits, buildings and structures, 
information kiosks and displays P - 

Park, Playground or Outdoor Recreation Area A A 

Recreation and Fitness Facility P P 

Public or private recreation and fitness facility, including swimming 
pools, tennis courts, game rooms, restroom and shower facilities, 
open space and pathways, and other recreational facilities 

- P 

Use of a school or school support facility for community recreation, 
education, meeting space, and like uses that do not conflict with the 
primary educational purpose of the school 

- A 

Public and private recreation facilities, restroom and shower 
facilities, open space and pathways, campgrounds; provided that 
the overnight camping other than in approved campgrounds or as 
authorized by Skamania County for seasonal county fairground use 
is prohibited. 

P - 

  

1- Vehicle Repair is subject to the following performance standards: 1) No 
repair work shall be conducted outside a fully enclosed building; and 2) 
vehicles shall not be parked or stored overnight unless inside a fully 
enclosed building. 

31



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 9 of 10 

 
5-Overnight camping as authorized by Skamania County for seasonal county 
fairground use is permitted. All other campgrounds in the PR District are 
conditional uses. 

 
6-Replacement or expansion of any Public Assembly use existing in an ED 
District as of July 17th, 2014 is allowed as an accessory use. Only new Public 
Assembly uses are required to obtain a Conditional Use Permit. 

 

Section 7 – The performance standards for Accessory Dwelling Units in SMC 17.40.040, 
originally adopted through Section 8 of Ordinance 1073, shall be amended by 
deleting the struck-through text and adding the underlined text as follows: 

SMC 17.40.040 – Accessory Dwelling Units 
A.  Purpose. The purposes and intent of this section are to: provide homeowners with the ability to establish separate living quarters 
within or adjoining their homes for the purpose of caring for elderly parents or other family members, providing housing for their 
children, companionship, security, or other purposes; and ensuring that the development of accessory dwelling units (ADU) follows 
adopted standards and does not cause unanticipated impacts on the character or stability of single-family neighborhoods. 
 1.  Provide homeowners with the ability to a) care for elderly parents or other family members, b) house their children, c) obtain 

companionship, d) be secure on their property, or e) fulfill other purposes. 
 2.  Encourage a range of residential land uses, housing sizes, types, and price ranges. 

3.  Ensure the development of Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) follow adopted standards and do not cause unanticipated 
impacts on the character or stability of single-family neighborhoods. 

B.  Permitting. AThe review and approval of a proposed ADU shall be accomplished through review by the zoning administrator as 
provided by this section. In addition to the standard application form, the following shall be submitted for the Zoning Administrator’s 
review: scale drawings of the ADU project depicting sufficient detail to interpret the requirements of this section shall be submitted 
with the application. 
 1.  Scale drawings of the ADU project depicting sufficient detail to interpret the requirements of this section. 
 2.  A proposal for a Detached ADU, when located on a lot with more than double the applicable minimum lot area of SMC Table 

17.15.050-1 Residential Density Standards, shall provide a site plan showing whether the proposed building would hinder future 
division of the lot. 

C.  Development Standards. Accessory dwelling units shall comply with the following standards and criteria: 
 1.  Owner Occupancy. The property owner must occupy either the principal unit or the ADU as their permanent residence. The 

owner shall maintain residency for at least 6six months out of the year, and at no time receive rent for, or otherwise allow to be 
occupied, the owner-occupied unit if absent for the remainder of the year. 

 2.  Configuration. An ADU may be located either within or attached to the primary residence but not as a separate building. 
 3.  Density. Only one ADU may be established in conjunction with a single-family residence. 
 4.  Minimum Lot Size. An ADU shall not be established on any parcel smaller than six thousand square feet in the R1 zone or 

smaller than fifteen thousand square feet in the SRthe applicable minimum lot area of SMC Table 17.15.050-1 Residential 
Density Standards zone. 

 5.  Maximum Unit Size. The gross floor area of an addition to an existing structure, constructed for the purpose of creating an 
ADU, shall not exceed forty percent of the gross floor area of the principal structure (not including basement or garage). For an 
ADU created through the internal conversion of an existing structure, there is no restriction on the maximum size. 

    a.  Internal Conversion. There is no restriction on the maximum size of an ADU when the ADU is created through the internal 
conversion of an existing structure. 

    b.  Addition. The gross floor area of an addition to an existing structure, constructed for the purpose of creating an ADU, shall 
not exceed 40% of the gross floor area of the principal structure (not including basement or garage). 

    c.  Detached ADU. The maximum unit size of a Detached ADU shall not exceed 800 square feet. 
 6.  Minimum Unit Size. The gross floor area of an ADU shall not be less than 300three hundred square feet or such larger size as 

may be required by the most current version of the applicable construction codes adopted in SMC Chapter 15.01. 
 7.  Design and Appearance. An ADU shall be consistent in design and appearance with the primary residence. Specifically, the 

roof pitch, siding and roofing materials, colors and window treatment shall be the same as the primary structure. 
 8.  Parking. The number of need for additional off-street parking spaces required for an ADU shall be determined based on the 

Table of Minimum Standards in SMC 17.42.090y the planning commission and may be waived where the ADU occupant has no 
need or ability to operate a vehicle or where site conditions preclude another on-site parking space. 

 9.  Garage Conversions. An existing garage structure may be incorporated as part of an ADU addition to the principal structure, 
provided that the structure complies with the setback standards applicable to the principal structure in the underlying zone and 
complies with applicable building codes. The off-street parking requirements for the primary residence shall be provided for 
elsewhere on site. 

 10.  Accessibility. To provide for the development of housing units for people with disabilities, the building official may allow 
reasonable deviation from stated requirements to facilitate accessibility. Such facilities shall be in conformance with the 
applicable construction codes adopted in SMC Chapter 15.01. 

 11.  Proximity. To ensure adequate owner supervision and achieve other purposes, the nearest point of a Detached ADU shall be 
located within 40 feet of the primary unit. 

 12.  Land Division. The City encourages locating Detached ADUs so as not to hinder future division of the lot.  
D.  Deed Covenant. The applicant shall provide a covenant in a form acceptable to the city attorney and suitable for recording with 
the county auditor, providing notice to future owners of the property that the existence of the ADU is predicated upon owner-

32



 

Zoning Code Amendment Page 10 of 10 

occupancy of either the principal dwelling unit or the ADU. Further, the covenant shall give notice to a prospective buyer of the 
limitations of this section. 
E.  Preexisting Accessory Dwelling Units. ADUs established without the benefit of permits prior to the adoption of this section may be 
permitted as a legal ADU. 
 1.  If by July 1, 2020, the owner of a property with an unpermitted ADU applies for an ADU permit then no penalties shall be 

imposed under SMC 17.52.010 Violation—Penalty and the following apply: 
    a.  The property owner shall arrange for an inspection of the ADU by the Building Official who will provide the property owner 

with a list of any required corrections. 
    b.  The property owner shall make all reasonable efforts to bring the ADU into compliance with the standards listed under 

subsection (C) of this section, including the requirement for compatibility with the principal unit. The Zoning Administrator may 
waive any of the requirements under subsection (C) of this section, if strict compliance would cause an unreasonable hardship. 

 2. If by July 1, 2020, the owner of a property with an unpermitted ADU fails to apply for an ADU permit, then the property owner 
may still apply for an ADU permit, but shall be required to pay an after-the-fact permit fee  and the ADU shall comply with the 
standards listed under subsection (C) of this section. 

 

Section 8 – If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or other portion of this 
Ordinance, or its application to any person, is, for any reason, declared invalid, in 
whole or in part by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction, said decision shall 
not affect the validity of the remaining portions hereof. 

Passed by a vote of ______________ at the City Council meeting of _________________, 2019. 

SIGNED:  ATTEST: 

 

    
Scott Anderson  Leana Kinley 
Mayor of Stevenson  Clerk/Treasurer 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

  
Kenneth B. Woodrich 
City Attorney 

33



 

 

                City of Stevenson 
      Leana Kinley, City Administrator 

 

  Phone (509)427-5970                                           7121 E Loop Road, PO Box 371 
  FAX (509) 427-8202                                             Stevenson, Washington 98648 

 
To: City Council 
From: Leana Kinley, City Administrator 
RE:  Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Utility Connection Fees  
Meeting Date: May 16, 2019 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
The current billing structure for connection fees need to be reviewed with the change in the zoning 
code.  Water connections are billed either based on the size of meter, or based on the number of 
structures in a multi-family unit.  Sewer connections are billed based on Equivalent Dwelling Units (EDU).  
There is ambiguity and inconsistency with the charging of connection fees as it relates to ADUs which 
needs to be resolved. 
 
Overview of Items: 
 
If Ordinance 2019-1141 is approved, there will be three different ways a customer can go about having 
an ADU on their property.  They can build a new detached structure, add an addition to their house for a 
connected ADU, or they can convert the interior of their house or a detached structure to an ADU.  In all 
instances staff recommends that the ADU maintain connection to utilities through the main house to 
maintain dependence upon the main structure and keep the “accessory” component of the ADU. 
 
Current city code states that “the water connection for each unit of a multifamily dwelling shall be fifty-
seven percent (57%) of the connection fee (or system development charge) for a single-family dwelling 
(3/4”).  If a customer adds an ADU, this reads that they should be charged $4,434.03 for a water 
connection.  Each multifamily unit is equivalent to one EDU and would also incur a $5,607 sewer system 
development charge (SDC).  This process is applied in the event that a customer builds a new structure-
either attached or detached.   
 
When a customer converts or remodels an existing structure that already has a water and sewer 
connection, the SDCs have not been applied.   
 
After lengthy staff discussion, one option is that all ADUs, whether converted or built new, shall be 
charged as one EDU for sewer SDCs and 14% of a ¾” residential meter for water SDCs.  The 14% is 
calculated by adding two multifamily water SDCs at 57% (114%) and subtracting what the customer has 
already paid for the residential connection (100%).   
 
Some cities base the SDC on meter size and if a larger meter is needed with the ADU, then the customer 
will pay the difference for the increased meter size.  Other cities require a new residential connection if 
it is part of new construction.  In researching ADU policies, the City of Santa Cruz was one 
recommendation as having a model code and the FAQs for the City of Santa Cruz are attached for 
comparison. 

34



 

 

 
Further discussion will need to be had over the billing for mixed-use units from a water connection and 
monthly base fee perspective.  However, the discussion over how ADUs are billed will help inform staff 
how to revise the code to ensure fairness and equity. 
 
Action Needed: 
 

 Provide direction to staff as to how each type of ADU shall be billed for system development 
charges/connection fees. 

35



Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 
Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) 

 

Issued: March 28, 2019  Page 1 of 6 
 

What are the fees to build an ADU? 
Building Permit fees for ADUs vary from one project to the next based on the type of construction 
(remodel vs. new structure, remodel of habitable space vs. remodel of non-habitable space), the size of 
the ADU, and the full project scope (adding new sidewalks, need to open street to install new water or 
sewer connections, adding parking or paved areas, etc.)  

Below are estimated Building Permit fees for three sample projects: New Construction ADU, 400 sf in 
size; New Construction ADU, 750 sf in size; and a Conversion ADU of 400 sf in size (based on conversion 
of a two-car garage). These estimates are samples only.  

New Construction ADU Building Permit Estimate – 400 sf 
$6,130.42 + Fire and water fees 

Payment Information Fee Description  Amount  
Due at Application Submittal Building & Safety Plan Check Fee  $            721.34  

Planning Plan Check Fee  $            894.00  
Public Works Plan Check Fee  $            496.00  

Due at Permit Issuance Fire Plan Check Fee* -  
Building, Mechanical, Electrical, & 
Plumbing Permit Inspection Fees 

 $         1,305.75  

State Required Fees  $               15.88  
Technology Fees  $            163.85  
Document Handling Fees  $               40.00  
Green Building Education Fund Fees  $            220.00  
General Plan Maintenance  $         1,073.60  
Parks & Recreation Fees  $         1,200.00  

Fees Paid Directly to Water 
Department (Due Prior to Permit Final) 

Water Fees* _ 

Fees Paid Directly to School District 
Office (Pay Prior to Permit Issuance) 

Santa Cruz County Office of Education 
Developer Fees 

 N/A  

 

* Check in with the following Departments regarding their specific fees and for any other permits/fees 
that an ADU may incur for your disclaimers section (i.e. water meter upsizing, fire service, fire sprinkler 
permit, encroachment permits, etc.: 
Fire - Kelly Kumec (831) 420-5284 
Water - BJ Dericco (831) 420-5318 
Public Works - Curtis Busenhart (831) 420-5175 

 

36



Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 
Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) 

 

Issued: March 28, 2019  Page 2 of 6 
 

New Construction ADU Building Permit Estimate – 750 sf  
$12,117.48 + Fire and Water Fees 

Payment Information Fee Description  Amount  
Due at Application Submittal Building & Safety Plan Check Fee  $         1,012.54  

Planning Plan Check Fee  $         1,279.00  
Public Works Plan Check Fee  $            496.00  

Due at Permit Issuance Fire Plan Check Fee* - 
Building, Mechanical, Electrical, & 
Plumbing Permit Inspection Fees 

 $         1,840.75  

State Required Fees  $               29.28  
Technology Fees  $            224.41  
Document Handling Fees  $               40.00  
Green Building Education Fund Fees  $            412.50  
General Plan Maintenance  $         2,013.00  
Parks & Recreation Fees  $         2,250.00  

Fees Paid Directly to Water 
Department (Due Prior to Permit Final) 

Water Fees* - 

Fees Paid Directly to School District 
Office (Pay Prior to Permit Issuance) 

Santa Cruz County Office of Education 
Developer Fees 

 $         2,520.00  

 

* Check in with the following Departments regarding their specific fees and for any other permits/fees 
that an ADU may incur for your disclaimers section (i.e. water meter upsizing, fire service, fire sprinkler 
permit, encroachment permits, etc.: 
Fire - Kelly Kumec (831) 420-5284 
Water - BJ Dericco (831) 420-5318 
Public Works - Curtis Busenhart (831) 420-5175 

 

  

37



Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 
Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) 

 

Issued: March 28, 2019  Page 3 of 6 
 

Conversion ADU Building Permit Estimate – 400 sf 
$5,392.13 + Fire and Water Fees 

Payment Information Fee Description  Amount  
Due at Application Submittal Building & Safety Plan Check Fee  $            598.49  

Planning Plan Check Fee  $            759.00  
Public Works Plan Check Fee  $            496.00  

Due at Permit Issuance Fire Plan Check Fee* - 
Building, Mechanical, Electrical, & 
Plumbing Permit Inspection Fees 

 $         1,247.75  

State Required Fees  $               11.19  
Technology Fees  $            148.06  
Document Handling Fees  $               40.00  
Green Building Education Fund Fees  $            151.64  
General Plan Maintenance  $            740.00  
Parks & Recreation Fees  $         1,200.00  

Fees Paid Directly to Water 
Department (Due Prior to Pemit Final) 

Water Fees* - 

Fees Paid Directly to School District 
Office (Pay Prior to Permit Issuance) 

Santa Cruz County Office of Education 
Developer Fees 

 N/A  

 

* Check in with the following Departments regarding their specific fees and for any other permits/fees 
that an ADU may incur for your disclaimers section (i.e. water meter upsizing, fire service, fire sprinkler 
permit, encroachment permits, etc.: 
Fire - Kelly Kumec (831) 420-5284 
Water - BJ Dericco 4(831) 20-5318 
Public Works - Curtis Busenhart (831) 420-5175 

 

Do I need a permit to build an ADU? 
Yes. All ADUs require only a building permit – no public hearing or planning permit is required, and these 
permits cannot be challenged or appealed by neighbors. If an ADUs is part of a larger project that 
involves building or extensively renovating the primary home on the parcel, additional permits may be 
required. 

What features does an ADU need to have? 
An ADU is a fully independent living unit with full facilities for sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation. 
They can be small or large, but must have a full kitchen (minimum of countertop, cooking appliance, 
space for refrigeration, and sink with 2” drainline) and full bath (minimum toilet, sink, shower). An ADU 
must have exterior access independent from the primary dwelling. 

38



Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 
Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) 

 

Issued: March 28, 2019  Page 4 of 6 
 

Can I use a manufactured home as an ADU? 
Yes. As long as the home can comply with state and local building code requirements, including local 
green building standards for ADUs, and can be sited on the property in compliance with the zoning code. 

There is an existing unit on my property that was built without permits. Can it be 
legalized? 
Yes, nearly all existing unpermitted units are eligible for legalization through the City’s ADU legalization 
program. These units will need to be brought into compliance with current building, health and safety 
codes, and the City is working to facilitate this process for property owners in order to keep rental 
housing on the market. Information about the Legalization Program is available on our website. 

 

What can I do to reduce the cost of my project? 
There are many factors that can influence the cost of ADU construction, some will be unavoidable and 
others can be greatly influenced by considering several factors at the beginning of your planning 
process. Below are several factors that can influence the cost of a project both in hard and soft 
construction costs as well as fees. 

• Type of Project 
o Conversion ADUs are the least expensive option both in terms of permit fees and in 

terms of actual construction costs. Conversion of existing habitable space will be less 
expensive than the conversion of existing non-habitable space (such as a storage area or 
garage). 

o Building your ADU as an addition to your existing home may be more cost effective than 
building a new stand-alone structure, but this will depend on the age and construction 
of your existing home. 
 The size of your attached ADU can trigger the requirement for fire sprinklers – if 

the ADU exceeds 50% of the size of the habitable area of your existing home, 
your project may require the installation of fire sprinklers throughout the entire 
structure. If you are close to this threshold, consult with City Fire while you are 
designing your project. 

o Building a new, free-standing ADU is the most expensive type of ADU, both in terms of 
construction and in the permitting fees that will apply, but it may be the only or best 
option for your project depending on your site and your goals.  

o Utilizing a manufactured home or prefab construction may be more cost effective, but 
make sure the product and its placement on your site can comply with local zoning and 
building codes, including green building standards. 

o ADUs that are smaller than 500 square feet fall below the threshold for paying school 
fees (around $3.50/square foot).  

• Site planning 

39



Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 
Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) 

 

Issued: March 28, 2019  Page 5 of 6 
 

o Are you locating your ADU adjacent to an alley? Is the alley paved and in good 
condition? If not, you could be responsible for paving the portion of the alley abutting 
your property.  

o Are you locating the ADU on a slope? The structure will need to be engineered more 
carefully and the project may trigger the requirement for a Slope Alteration Permit. 

o Do you plan to provide driving access for the occupant of the ADU (not required)? 
Adding additional paved area to your project (for a longer driveway) adds costs for 
materials as well as drainage considerations. 

• Project Phasing 
o Does your property have sidewalks? Are they in good condition? If not, consider 

installing these features before applying to build your ADU. If you voluntarily install or 
repair sidewalks, the fees charged by the Public Works Department are significantly 
reduced. 

Do I need to notify my neighbors or have my ADU reviewed at a public hearing? 
No. ADUs require only a building permit. Building permits do not require public notice and cannot be 
appealed. That said, providing courtesy notice to the residents of adjacent lots prior to the start of 
construction is neighborly. 

Does my ADU need a separate water meter/sewer connection? 
ADUs created as Conversion ADUs are not required to install separate connections for water and sewer 
service, but could in some cases exceed the capacity of the existing connection and trigger the need to 
up-size the existing meter. This circumstance could result in the need to open the street to upsize the 
water main, which would also trigger additional permits and fees. We recommend consulting with the 
Water Department early in your planning process to try to identify any issues that are likely to affect 
your project. 

ADUs created as New Construction will almost always trigger the requirement for new water and sewer 
connections and the associated connection fees. 

Will fire sprinklers be required in the ADU? Will adding an ADU trigger the requirement to 
add sprinklers to my existing home? 
The state law currently prohibits the City from requiring fire sprinklers in an ADU when sprinklers are 
not present or required in the primary home. If you are building an attached ADU that is larger than 50% 
of the existing habitable space of your primary home (excluding any attached garage), the size of the 
addition could require that fire sprinklers be added to the entire structure – both the existing home and 
the new attached ADU. If you are close to the threshold, we recommend consulting with the City Fire 
Department about your project before submitting your building permit application.  

Can I build more than one ADU? 
No. The municipal code currently allows only one ADU per parcel, in conjunction with a proposed or 
existing single-family home. 

40



Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 
Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) 

 

Issued: March 28, 2019  Page 6 of 6 
 

I live in a duplex. Can I build an ADU? 
No, ADUs can only be built on a property with an existing or proposed single-family home. 

Will adding an ADU raise my property taxes? 
Yes, a bit. Building an ADU will not cause the basis of your property taxes to be reassessed, but an 
increment representing the added value of the new structure, will be added. Further information is 
available by contacting the County Tax Assessor. 

Where can I find more information about financing an ADU? 
The County of Santa Cruz created an ADU Financing Guide in 2017 that covers the basics of planning a 
project and acquiring financing for construction. With the obvious exception of local fees, the 
information in that guide is relevant to City residents as well. The ADU Financing Guide is available 
through the County’s ADU website at www.sccoplanning.com/ADU (Select ‘ADU Guides’ from the menu 
bar and then ‘Financing Guide’). 

 

 

41



 

Page 1 of 4 

P:\WTEN\EngTech\ET Docs\Water Service Installation & Procedure Handout Info\SDC and Fees as of 010119.docx 

 
 

 

Fees for New Water Services 
 

 

 

Water System Development Charges and Sewer Connections Fees 

For all new or additional residential units or water services, or an increase in meter size, there shall be levied a 

system development charge which is in addition to the charges for installation of water service and private fire 

services. Water System Development Charges and Sewer Connection Fees shall be waived for a dwelling unit 

approved in the City as a unit affordable by households of low or very low income, as defined and regulated by 

Part 4 of Chapter 24.16 of the City’s Municipal Code Zoning Ordinance.  

 

Accessory dwelling unit charges apply to inside-city ADUs as defined and regulated by Part 2 of Chapter 24.16 of 

the City’s Municipal Code Zoning Ordinance or its successors and to outside-city second units as permitted by the 

County that meet city definition of an accessory dwelling unit. Multi-family dwelling unit charges shall apply to each 

multiple unit, condominium, apartment, multiple home, mobile home space, or similar residential development 

with a separate irrigation meter or little or no irrigation. If additional residential units are added to an active service, 

current water system development charges are due at the time units are completed for occupancy. 

 

For uses other than multi-family residential uses, current water system development charges will be levied for additional 

services, or uses which require a larger meter, based on the proportionate increase in capacity. 

 
Service Description Water System 

Development 

Charge - Effective 

7/1/2017 

Water System 

Development 

Charge - Effective 

7/1/2018 

 

 Sewer Connection 

Fee 

(inside City only) 

  Residential Per Unit: 

Standard Single Family Residential (SFR)  $11,751 $12,133 $1,200 

Apartments, Condos, Townhomes, 
Mobile Homes, etc. (residential with 
separate irrigation meter or little or no 
irrigation) 

$8,226 $8,493 $900 

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU)* $7,050 $7,279 $900 

Single Room Occupancy (SRO) $5,876 $6,067 $900 

 
  Services Per Meter Size and Type: 

⅝”x ¾” Disk $11,751 $12,133 $1,200.00 

¾” Disk $17,627 $18,199 $1,200.00 

1” Disk $29,377 $30,331 $2,000.00 

1½” Disk/Turbo $58,753 $60,661 $2,900.00 

2” Disk/Turbo $94,005 $97,057 $4,900.00 

3” Turbo $205,634 $212,311 $9,800.00 

4” Turbo $370,142 $382,161 $15,700.00 

6” Turbo $940,041 $970,565 $31,800.00 

8” Turbo $1,645,071 $1,698,488 ** 

10” Turbo $2,467,606 $2,547,731 ** 
 

Note:  Annual inflationary adjustments are to ensure the fee structure maintains pace with costs/inflation. The Handy-Whitman Index was approved 

by the City Council for this purpose. The July 1, 2018 fees were updated to reflect inflation for water utility construction. An annual inflation value of 

3% was used which is consistent with the previous 5-years of data available from the Handy-Whitman Index of the Public Utility Construction. 

 

42



 

Page 2 of 4 

P:\WTEN\EngTech\ET Docs\Water Service Installation & Procedure Handout Info\SDC and Fees as of 010119.docx 

* As of December 13, 2016 council approved a resolution conforming to Senate Bill 1069 to waive Water System Development Charges and 

Sewer Connection Fees for Accessory Dwelling Units contained entirely within the existing space of a single family residence or accessory structure. 
 

** In proportion to meter capacity as determined by the Director of Public Works. The Director of Public Works may establish an 

“equivalent” meter size if a well is utilized or if a substantial portion of the water consumption will not be discharged to the sewer or other special 

conditions when the water meter size is clearly not a reasonable determination of sewage. 
 

City Installed Water Services 

a. Installation of water services, private fire services and public fire hydrants will only be performed by City staff 

when engineering conditions warrant, otherwise the applicant shall obtain a permit from the City, pay an inspection 

fee and select an approved contractor. If City staff does install a water service, the customer will be billed for time, 

overhead, and materials. 

b. Miscellaneous Work Performed by City Staff: When miscellaneous work (such as relocation of a service) is required 

to be done by City staff, the customer will be charged a fee for the work covering time, overhead, and materials, based 

upon an engineer’s estimate prepared by Water Engineering. This fee, and other applicable fees, must be paid before 

the work is authorized. 

 

Charges to furnish and install water meters by City forces 

 

  Meter Size   Labor Cost   Plus Materials   Total Cost 

5/8” $34 $260 $294 

3/4" $34 $290 $324 

1” $34 $335 $369 

1½”  $134 $1,288 $1,422 

2”  $134 $1,463 $1,597 

3” $201 $1,813 $2,014 

4” $201 $3,039 $3,240 

6” $201 $5,140 $5,341 

Over 6” meter Time and Materials 

 

43



Plan Review / Inspection / Permit Fees 
 

 

Page 3 of 4 

P:\WTEN\EngTech\ET Docs\Water Service Installation & Procedure Handout Info\SDC and Fees as of 010119.docx 

Construction and Development Plan Review Fees 

Category/Service Size Base Rate Additional Rate*** 

Residential per unit including fire services $67 N/A 

 

 
 

Non-Residential or 

Residential on Master Meter Size: 

5/8” x 3/4"  $67 $67 each hour over 1 

1" $134 $67 each hour over 2 

1 1/2" $201 $67 each hour over 3 

2" $335 $67 each hour over 5 

3" $469 $67 each hour over 7 

4" $603 $67 each hour over 9 

6" $670 $67 each hour over 10 

Commercial Fire Service 4” /+ $67 $67 per hour over 1 

Fire Hydrant $134 $67 per hour over 2 

Well Permit per parcel $67 $67 per hour over 1 

Production Well Permit per parcel $201 $67 each hour over 3 

Backflow Prevention Device per project $134 $67 each hour over 1 

4”/+ Fire Service Backflow Retrofit      No fee Waived to encourage installation 
Water Main Extension $369 $67 each hour over 5.5 

Water Main Replacement $737 $67 each hour over 11 

Facility, i.e. Pressure Regulating Station, Booster 
Pump Station, Tanks, etc 

 

$268 each 
 

$67 each hour over 4 

 

Landscape / Irrigation Plan Review Fees 

Landscape Area Base Rate Additional Rate*** 

Up to 5000 sq ft $134 $67 each hour over 2 

5,000 - 50,000 sq ft $268 $67 each hour over 4 

50,001 sq ft and above $536 $67 each hour over 8 

Plumbing Fixture Violation Appeal Retrofit $134 Per appeal 
 

Inspection / Permit Fees 

Category Base Rate Additional Rate*** 

Water Service Installation $201 per tap $67 each hour over 3 

Fire Hydrant $201 each $67 each hour over 3 

Backflow Device $134 each $67 each hour over 2 

Backflow Device Retrofit      No fee Waived to encourage installation 

Water Service/Fire Hydrant Adjustment without 

Street Opening 

 

$67 each 
 

$67 each hour over 1 

Monitoring Well Permit $67 per well $67 each hour over 1 

Production Well Permit $134 per well $67 each hour over 2 

Public Works Dept. Street Opening Permit (Inside 

City of Santa Cruz) 

 

$410 per project 
 

Traffic Control Plan as Required 

 

Water Main Extension / Replacement Inspection and Others Fees: 

Number of Lineal Feet (lf), min 100 $67 up to 100 lf Additional = 0.67/lf 

Service/Hydrant/Water Main Taps $134 each 

Water Main Tie-Ins $966 each plus $67 each hour over 11 

Hydrants $67 each 

Thrust Blocks $67 each 

Disinfection & Pressure Testing $1,242 each plus $67 each hour over 12 

Add. Facilities i.e. Pressure Regulating Station etc. $201 each plus $67 for each hour over 3 

Water Main Extension Mapping Fee $268 per project plus $67 each hour over 4 

 
***Additional Charges are assessed in ¼ hour increments. 

44



 

 

Page 4 of 4 

P:\WTEN\EngTech\ET Docs\Water Service Installation & Procedure Handout Info\SDC and Fees as of 010119.docx 

 

 

Miscellaneous Service Fees 
 
 
 
 

The following are the most common Water Engineering related fees; a full list of Water Department Miscellaneous Fees 

is available upon request. 

 

Bulk Water Station Use 
Users must comply with requirements of the Bulk Water Permit issued by SCWD. 

Service description Fee 

Deposit $173 minimum deposit, based on estimated use 

Annual permit processing $67 per truck 

Reported usage, per ccf (monthly) Current commercial inside rate (all commodity rates),  

$50 minimum 

Failure to report use (monthly) $100 

Hydrant Meter Use (limited availability) 

Service description Fee 

Deposit**** $3,415  

Application for service $34 

Water Ready to Service (monthly) Current 3” meter inside rate 

Water usage, per ccf (monthly) Current commercial inside rate (all commodity rates) 

Daily use fee $5 

**** Deposit amount is the cost for full replacement. If the meter requires repairs upon return, the deposit amount to be returned will be reduced by 

the cost of parts and labor to repair. 
 

Other Charges  

Service description Base fee 

Bucket Test Fee  $67 /meter ***** 

Labor to set or re-set a lock $67/hour (plus parts if lock is broken or a locking bracket is 

needed) 

Unauthorized connection assessment 

and response 

$201 (Plus parts as needed. Add $67/hour each hour over 3 

Cancellation/Rescheduling without 1 

business-day notice of appointments 

for contractor related assistance  

$536 (Per missed appointment) 

*****Requests for services received after 3:00pm will be subject to the after-hours rate of $100.50/hour with a 2 hour minimum. 

Temporary Construction Service 

All standard applicable fees and charges apply. This includes, but may not be limited to, fees and charges for 

installation, inspection, application for service, water usage, and System Development Charge.  Upon completion of the 

construction project, the System Development Charge will be refunded or credited to the resulting project.  After 180 

days, temporary status may be re-evaluated and account converted to permanent status. 

45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



 

 

                City of Stevenson 
      Leana Kinley, City Administrator 

 

  Phone (509)427-5970                                           7121 E Loop Road, PO Box 371 
  FAX (509) 427-8202                                             Stevenson, Washington 98648 

 
To: City Council 
From: Leana Kinley, City Administrator 
RE:  Copier Purchase/Lease  
Meeting Date: May 16, 2019 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
The City of Stevenson’s contract for a small Ricoh copier expires the end of June.  The large copier that 
the city owns is reaching the end of its useful life and is no longer manufactured.  There are three 
companies that have provided quotes for lease, purchase and service options for both copiers, CTX, 
Ricoh and Solutions Yes!.   
 
Overview of Items: 
 
The technology offered by each company is very similar.  They all have scanning capabilities with OCR, 
fax, the same number of paper trays and the same finishing features (stapling, collating, etc).  The 
Kyocera from Solutions Yes! runs at 40 pages per minute (ppm) for copy and print rather than our 
current 45 ppm.  The service cost for CTX does not include staples, which would cost about $53 for 
15000 staples.  More details specifications for each quote and solution presented are attached.   
 
The service costs were estimated for 5 years based on the last quarter’s usage.  Solutions Yes stated 
they would match the lease or purchase price of any vendor.  Solutions Yes also have a tiered pricing 
structure based on the amount of color used.  In the estimates below, the highest cost of a full color 
sheet was used. 
 

 

Solutions Yes Ricoh CTX SY-Price Match 

Lease Total 20,745.96  17,849.55  18,517.83  17,399.76  

Purchase Total 19,470.16  15,233.75  14,807.85  13,689.78  
 
 
Action Needed: 
 

 Approve moving forward with the purchase or lease of new copiers. 

54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

George Trano 
Account Manager-Government/K12 
9020 SW Washington Square RD Suite 120 
Tigard, Oregon 97223 
360 213 6105 cell 
 
 
 
 

RICOH USA, INC. 

April 23, 2019 
Revised Proposal 

For 
City of Stevenson 

 
      Purchase 60 Mo. FMV Lease  60 Mo. CPC  
Current Ricoh MPC4501 Serial #V9515600326   
Ricoh IMC4500 Color MFP      6970.00        152.85           .005B/W-.04CLR 
Finisher Stapler              Includes all parts, labor,  
Bridge Unit                            supplies and staples 
Paper Feed Unit (2 Trays 550 Sheets ea.) 
Fax 
OCR 
Surge Protector 

Options 
Booklet Finisher (Add 14.36 to above lease or 654.84 to purchase) 
PostScript3 (Add 9.35 to above lease or 426.37 to purchase) 
 
Current Ricoh MP301 Serial #w914P600576 
Ricoh IM350F B/W MFP       1315.00          28.83          .0075 
OCR                           Includes all parts, labor, 
Surge Protector              supplies and staples 
 
 
We have 2 options for paperwork. I can provide eDocs to sign or you can provide a PO with the following 
information. 
 
NASPO PO Language Lease 
“PO is subject to NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement Contract 
resulting from RFP # 3091 and this Washington Contract number 05214”,  
 
(2) Your Name, Address, Contact, & Phone-Number  
(3) Purchase order amount  
(4) If Leased, type of Lease (FMV, Operational, or Capital lease) and monthly payment  
(5) Itemized list of accessories  
(6) Service Program selected and CPC rates. 
 

Ricoh USA, Inc. 
Box 100345 
Pasadena, CA 91189-0345 

  

69



Ricoh Online System Configurator Tool
Choose a Model •  Select Options •  Save, Print or Email

Your Configured Ricoh IM C4500

*Note: The image is a photo realistic illustration of your selected configuration.

DIMENSIONS

WIDTH

45.70in

(1,161mm)  

DEPTH

27.00in

(686mm)  

HEIGHT

47.60in

(1,209mm)

Actual dimensions may vary. These are approximate only.

POWER CONSUMPTION (MAIN UNIT)
120V-127V, 60Hz 

Additional power requirements may apply.

Please read each option's description copy to see if additional

power sources are needed.

 Your Chosen Options

IM C4500

Paper Feed Unit PB3280

Finisher SR3260

Bridge Unit BU3090

OCR Unit Type M13

Fax Option Type M37

ESP XG-PCS-15D

Print Cartridge Black IM C6000

Print Cartridge Yellow IM C6000

Print Cartridge Magenta IM

C6000

Print Cartridge Cyan IM C6000

Staple Refill Type T for

SR3260/SR3280/SR3290/SR3250

Waste Toner Bottle IM C6000

70



Ricoh Online System Configurator Tool
Choose a Model •  Select Options •  Save, Print or Email

Main Unit

Main Unit

Item/Description Item # Power Requirements

IM C4500 418309 120V-127V, 60Hz

Paper Tray & Optional Accessories

Item/Description Item # Power Requirements

Paper Feed Unit PB3280 418349 N/A

Output & Finishing Options

External

Item/Description Item # Power Requirements

Finisher SR3260 418337 N/A

Bridge Unit BU3090 418345 N/A

Print/Scan Options

Printing/Scanning Features

Item/Description Item # Power Requirements

OCR Unit Type M13 417428 N/A

Fax Options

Item/Description Item # Power Requirements

Fax Option Type M37 418392 N/A

Security & Miscellaneous Accessories

Item/Description Item # Power Requirements

ESP XG-PCS-15D 006428MIU N/A

Supplies

Item/Description Item # Power Requirements

Print Cartridge Black IM C6000 842279 N/A

Print Cartridge Yellow IM C6000 842280 N/A

Print Cartridge Magenta IM C6000 842281 N/A

Print Cartridge Cyan IM C6000 842282 N/A

Staple Refill Type T for SR3260/SR3280/SR3290/SR3250 415010 N/A

Waste Toner Bottle IM C6000 418425 N/A

71



Ricoh Online System Configurator Tool
Choose a Model •  Select Options •  Save, Print or Email

Main Unit

Main Unit

Item/Description Item # Thumbnail

IM C4500

Output Speed (Letter): 45-ppm

Average Monthly Volume: 10,000 impressions/month

Maximum Monthly Volume: 50,000 impressions/month

Power Requirements: 120V-127V, 60Hz

Weight: 223.5 lbs. (101.4 kg)

W × D × H (inches): 23.1 × 27 × 37.9

W × D × H (mm): 586.74 × 685.8 × 962.66

Note:

The DOSS does not overwrite the HDD for the Color Controller E-25C.

418309

Paper Tray & Optional Accessories

Item/Description Item # Thumbnail

Paper Feed Unit PB3280

Provides an additional 1,100 sheets.

Paper sizes up to 12" x 18".

Paper weights up to 80 lb. Bond/166 lb. Index (300 g/m ).

Weight: 50.7 lbs. (23 kg)

W × D × H (inches): 23.1 × 27 × 9.7

W × D × H (mm): 586.74 × 685.8 × 246.38

Note:

Paper Feed Unit PB3280 cannot be installed with Paper Feed Unit PB3270, Caster Table Type M3,

Paper Feed LCIT PB3290, Cabinet Type F or any related options.

418349

2

72



Output & Finishing Options

External

Item/Description Item # Thumbnail

Finisher SR3260

1,000-sheet Finisher.

For offices that produce collated and stapled sets of documents, the SR3260

helps shorten production time. It offers 50-sheet, multi-position stapling, mixed

sized stapling, optional hole punching, and shift-sort collating, as well as a staple-

less binding capability of up to 5 sheets.

Supports paper sizes up to 12" x 18".

Weight: 75 lbs. (34 kg)

W × D × H (inches): 22.6 × 24.4 × 37.8

W × D × H (mm): 574.04 × 619.76 × 960.12

Note:

1. Bridge Unit BU3090 or Internal Multi-Fold Unit FD3010 must be installed to add this option.

2. One of the following Paper Feed Units must be selected to add this finisher: Paper Feed Unit

PB3280, Paper Feed LCIT PB3290 or Cabinet Type F.

3. Finisher SR3260 cannot be installed with Paper Feed Unit PB3270, Caster Table Type M3,

Internal Shift Tray SH3080, Internal Finisher SR3250, Finisher SR3280, Booklet Finisher SR3270,

Booklet Finisher SR3290 or any related options.

418337

Bridge Unit BU3090

A required accessory when the main unit is not configured with the Internal

Multi-Fold Unit FD3010. The Bridge Unit transports pages from the standard exit

area into a Finisher for online stapling or hole punching.

Note:

One of the following finishers must be selected to add this option: Finisher SR3260, Finisher

SR3280, Booklet Finisher SR3270 or Booklet Finisher SR3290.

418345

Print/Scan Options

Printing/Scanning Features

Item/Description Item # Thumbnail

OCR Unit Type M13

This function embeds invisible texts on scanned images of PDFs and enables users

to search PDF files by arbitrary keywords. Searchable PDF files can be sent to

email, folders, and external media (USB/SD). Supports blank page removal when

scanning.

417428

73



Fax Options

Item/Description Item # Thumbnail

Fax Option Type M37

Installation required to enable fax services: 33.6 kbps, approximately 2 second

transmission speed, standard JBIG, and standard 320 Pages Memory. Includes

standard Internet Fax (T.37), LAN Fax, IP-Fax (T.38), Fax Forwarding to Email &

Paperless Fax function.

418392

Security & Miscellaneous Accessories

Item/Description Item # Thumbnail

ESP XG-PCS-15D

Designed to provide a higher level of noise filtering and surge protection for

devices that employ more sensitive and complex electronic components.

Our Advanced Technical Support (ATS) recommends the use of power

protection products to minimize potential electrical interference with products.

006428MIU

Supplies

Item/Description Item # Thumbnail

Print Cartridge Black IM C6000

Unit Packaging: 1 Bottle (544 g)

Yield (CTN): 33,000 pages

Based on printing on letter paper with 5% coverage.

842279

Print Cartridge Yellow IM C6000

Unit Packaging: 1 Bottle (437 g)

Yield (CTN): 22,500 pages

Based on printing on letter paper with 5% coverage.

842280

74



Print Cartridge Magenta IM C6000

Unit Packaging: 1 Bottle (455 g)

Yield (CTN): 22,500 pages

Based on printing on letter paper with 5% coverage.

842281

Print Cartridge Cyan IM C6000

Unit Packaging: 1 Bottle (400 g)

Yield (CTN): 22,500 pages

Based on printing on letter paper with 5% coverage.

842282

Staple Refill Type T for SR3260/SR3280/SR3290/SR3250

Unit Packaging: 5,000 per Crtg. (2 Crtg/Ctn)

Yield (CTN): 10,000

Note:

Internal Finisher SR3250, Finisher SR3260, Finisher SR3280 or Booklet Finisher SR3290 must be

selected to add this supply.

415010

Waste Toner Bottle IM C6000

Unit Packaging: 1 - Each

Yield (CTN): 100,000 pages

418425

75



Ricoh is committed to creating value for our customers through the production of top quality products, services and solutions that directly meet the needs of

today’s communication intensive business environments. As a result, we offer a range of Multifunction products with advanced scanning and printing software

options that help boost productivity and improve workflow by enhancing the user experience. Visit Ricoh-USA.com for more information.

We offer a variety of services and solutions to meet diverse and challenging business needs. To find out more information, visit solutions.ricoh-usa.com

The content on this site, and the appearance, features and specifications of Ricoh products and services are subject to change from time to time without notice.
Products are shown with optional features. While care has been taken to ensure the accuracy of this information, Ricoh makes no representation or warranties
about the accuracy, completeness or adequacy of the information contained herein, and shall not be liable for any errors or omissions in these materials. Actual
results will vary depending upon use of the products and services, and the conditions and factors affecting performance. The only warranties for Ricoh products
and services are as set forth in the express warranty statements accompanying them.

Ricoh USA, Inc., 70 Valley Stream Parkway, Malvern, PA 19355, 1-800-63-RICOH. 2019 Ricoh USA, Inc. All rights reserved. Ricoh  and the Ricoh Logo are registered

trademarks of Ricoh Company, Ltd. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

© ®

76



PROPOSED SOLUTION  
 

FOR 
CITY OF STEVENSON 

 
CURRENT SITUATION: 

• Ricoh MPC4501 Owned  
• 0 B&W copies included all copies @.01 (escalated from .008, 25%) 0 Color copies included all clr copies 

@.08125 (escalated from .0065, 25%) 
• Feb 2, 2019 billing statement-Ricoh MPC4501- 14,444 B&W qtr (4,814 mo) @.01=$48.14mo,  

6,348 Color qtr (2,116 mo)@.08125=$171.93mo 
Current monthly print spend of $220.07 for just copies 

 
RECOMMENDED SOLUTION:  

• New Kyocera TASKalfa 4053ci 
• 40 Pages per minute copy and print (B&W/full-color) 
• 100 ppm scan speed-single sided, 180 ppm double sided 
• 270 Sheet dual scan single pass document feeder 
• 4- 500 sheet adjustable trays (5.5x8.5-12x18) 
• 3G Fax Technology 
• OCR capabilities (word searchable documents) 
• 150 Sheet multipurpose tray  

(12x48 banner, letterhead, cardstock, etc) 
• Full network printing, faxing and scanning capabilities  

(scan to email, SMB, FTP, USB) 

                   
60 month FMV lease $184.99 per month (includes service and installation) 
Purchase Price $9,389.00 
Network installation for connectivity and scanning $520.00 
 
Maintenance Agreement 
B/W Service Rate  $ 0.006  (0 copies included)   
Color Service Rate             $ Tier 1 (Spot Color) .025, Tier 2 (Business Color) .035,  

Tier 3 (Full Color) .045 
4,814 B&W images mo @.006=$28.88, 2,116 Color images mo, Tier 1, 1,270 images (60%)@.025=$31.75,  
Tier 2 254 images (20%)@.035=$8.89, Tier 3, 254 images (20%)@.045=$11.43 Total cost for Service $80.95 
 
Total Monthly print spend-$265.94 

• All usage billed monthly or quarterly “as used”, no base and no minimums 
• Rates are all-inclusive for toner, drums, parts, staples and labor (everything except paper) 

 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

• Equipment set-up, delivery, network installation and unlimited training are all included. 
• Monthly Lease will not escalate. 
• Service rates are fixed for life of lease 
• Pricing based on OETC pricing. Contract OETC-16R-Copiers 

 
 

Presented By 
 

Blair Bell 
Cell: 503-330-0528 

Direct: 503-718-6127 
Blair.bell@solutionsyes.com 

77



         
 

PROPOSED SOLUTION  
 

FOR 
CITY OF STEVENSON 

 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDED SOLUTION:  
 

• New Kyocera Ecosys M3145idn B&W Mulit-function Printer 
• Copy/Print/Scan (with Color Scanning) 
• 37 Pages per minute print (B&W only) 
• 1-500 Sheet Paper Drawer/100 Sheet Bypass Tray 
• Wireless Printing 
• Apple AirPrint and Google Cloud Print enabled from Mobile Device 
• Standard USB Port 

                           
  
60 month Lease $30.99 (includes service and installation) 
Purchase price 1,499.00 
Network installation for connectivity and scanning $275.00 
 
Maintenance Agreement 
B/W Service Rate  $ 0.006 (0 copies included)   
 
    

• All usage billed monthly or quarterly “as used”, no base and no minimums 
• Rates are all-inclusive for toner, drums, parts and labor (everything except paper) 

 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

• Equipment set-up, delivery, network installation and unlimited training are all included. 
• Service rates are fixed for life of lease 
• Includes delivery, setup, installation, connectivity and training. 
• OETC contract pricing OETC-16R-Copiers 
• Solutions YES to return Ricoh MP301SPF with Return Authorization 

 
 
 

 
 

Presented By 
 

Blair Bell 
Cell: 503-330-0528 

Direct: 503-718-6127 
Blair.bell@solutionsyes.com 

78



KYOCERA TASKalfa 4053ci Xerox AltaLink C8045
BACKGROUND INFORMATION USA, BLI ID: 10215 USA, BLI ID: 19787

Manufacturing Status Current Current
Part Number 1102VF2US0 Info not avail
Domestic Intro Date February 2019 May 2017
OEM KYOCERA (China) Fuji Xerox and Xerox (Info not avail)
Predecessor Model KYOCERA TASKalfa 4052ci
Distributed By Dealers and direct sales Direct sales, agents, dealers, resellers 

and concessionaires
Max Monthly Duty Cycle 200,000 impressions 200,000 impressions
TYPE Full-color copier, MF Full-color copier, MF
Configuration/Scanner Desktop,digital Desktop,digital
Technology Laser LED
GENERAL 
SPECIFICATIONS/PAPER 
HANDLING
First Copy Time 5.9 sec color/4.5 sec black 7.8 sec color/6.4 sec black
Multicopy (Ltr/Lgl/Ldgr) 40 cpm color/40 cpm black 45 cpm color/45 cpm black
Warm-up Time 17 sec 92 sec
Std Paper Source(s) Dual drawer Four tray
Std Paper Capacity 500/500 sheets 520/520/867/1,133 sheets
Paper Weights 14-lb bond to 166-lb index 16-lb bond to 140-lb index
Bypass/Paper Weights 150-sheet/14-lb bond to 166-lb index 100-sheet/16-lb bond to 110-lb cover

Max Paper Sources 5 6
Max Paper Capacity 7,150 sheets 5,140 sheets
Max Original Size 11 x 17 11.7 x 17
Output Size (Min/Max) 5-1/2 x 8-1/2/12 x 18 3.5 x 3.9/12.6 x 19
Copy Resolution 600 x 600 dpi 600 x 600 dpi
Duplex Auto (1:2,2:2,2:1) Auto (1:2,2:2,2:1)

Duplex Capacity/Paper Sizes Unlimited/5-1/2 x 8-1/2 to 11 x 17 Unlimited/Info not avail
Document Feeder DSPF Std DSPF

Document Feeder Capacity 270 sheets of paper 130 sheets of paper
Paper Weights 13-lb bond to 90-lb index, 13-lb bond to 

120-lb index
16 to 32 lbs

Finisher Opt finishers Opt finishers
Tray/Stapling/Position(s) 500, 1,000, 4,000, 4,000/50, 50, 65, 

100/3
2,000, 3,500, 2,000/50/2, 3

79



KYOCERA TASKalfa 4053ci Xerox AltaLink C8045
Other Choice of opt document feeders: DP-

7110 270-sheet duplex single pass 
feeder, DP-7130 270-sheet duplex 
single pass feeder with multi-feed 
detection or DP-7100 140-sheet 
reversing automatic document feeder; 
paper handling options include: dual 500-
sheet paper drawer, dual 1,500-sheet 
paper drawer, 3,000-sheet side large 
capacity tray (8.5" x 11"/A4); opt 500-
sheet internal finisher; opt 1,000-sheet 
finisher; opt 4,000-sheet finisher (65-
sheet stapling), opt 4,000-sheet finisher 
(100-sheet stapling); opt hole punch 
units available for each finisher; opt 7-
bin mailbox (100 sheets per bin) and opt 
booklet/tri-fold units available for each of 
the 4,000-sheet finishers

Opt high-capacity tandem tray module 
(867-sheet tray + 1,133-sheet tray); 
opt 2,000-sheet high capacity feeder 
(8.5" x 11"/A4); opt envelope tray 
(replaces tray 1) supports up to 60 
envelopes;  a dual offset catch tray 
(250 sheets each) and face up tray 
(100 sheets) is standard when 
finishers are not attached; opt Office 
Finisher LX has a 2,000-sheet stacker 
and offers opt hole punch and opt 
saddle-stitch booklet making; opt 
Business Ready finisher has a 3,000-
sheet stacker plus 500-sheet top tray 
and includes hole punch; opt Business 
Ready Booklet Maker finisher has a 
2,000-sheet stacker plus 500-sheet 
top tray and includes saddle stitching 
of up to 15 sheets (60 page booklets), 
hole punch and V-folding (5 sheets); 
opt C-fold/Z-fold unit available for the 
Business Ready finishers; opt 50-
sheet convenience stapler with work 
surface

SECURITY SPECS
Network User Authentication Yes Yes
IP Address Filtering Yes Yes
MAC Address Filtering Yes Info not avail
HDD Overwrite Std Std

Max Overwrites 3 3
HDD Encryption Std Std
Secure Print Yes Yes
Encrypted Secure Print Yes Yes
Encrypted PDF Mode (Encrypted 
Scanning)

Yes Std

IPsec Yes Yes
Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) Yes Yes
SNMPv3 Yes Yes
Transport Layer Security Yes Yes

80



KYOCERA TASKalfa 4053ci Xerox AltaLink C8045
Other Opt card authentication kit; std data 

security kit is ISO 15408 Common 
Criteria certified and provides overwrite 
and encryption for print, copy and scan; 
IPv6; USB port block; std data sanitation 
mode can be used to wipe all system 
memory at the end of a lease; 
IEEE2600.2 accreditation

Immediate and on demand image 
overwrite; AES 256-bit encryption 
(FIPS 140-2 compliant); SHA-256 
Hash message authentication; fax 
security; encrypted password 
protected PDF; encrypted scan to 
email; McAfee embedded security; 
McAfee ePolicy (ePO) compatible; opt 
McAfee Integrity Control; opt smart 
card enablement (CAC/PIV/.NET); 
port disablement including USB ports; 
IPv6, HTTPs, 802.1X support; audit 
log; Common Criteria Certifiied; user 
permissions; bar code reader support

CONTROL PANEL 10.1" color touchscreen 10.1" color touchscreen
Quantity Selector 1 to 9,999 (0 to 9 touch keys) 1 to 9,999 (0 to 9 touch keys)
Message Display Yes Yes
Help Key Yes Yes
FEATURES
Automatic Features AES, AMS, APS, AS, ATS AMS, APS, ATS
Book Copy Yes Yes
Booklet Mode Std Std
Color Std Std
Copy Control 1,000 2,497
Covers Std Std
Editing No Std
Energy-Save Yes Yes
Erase Std Std
Image Insert Yes Yes
Image Overlay Std Std
Image Repeat Yes Yes
Image Rotate Std Std
Interrupt Yes Yes
Job Build Yes Yes
Job Programs Yes Yes
Job Time No No
Language Std Std
Margin Shift Yes Yes
Neg/Pos Yes Yes
OHP Interleaving Yes Yes
Photo Mode Yes Yes
Poster Mode Yes Yes
Preset R/E 5R, 5E INA
Program Ahead 10 Std
Sheet Insertion Std Std
Stamping Std Std
Timer Yes Yes

81



KYOCERA TASKalfa 4053ci Xerox AltaLink C8045
2-in-1 Std Std
XY Zoom Yes Yes
Zoom Range 25 to 400 (1%) 25 to 400 (1%)
Other Features ID card copy; priority print; custom box; 

job box; removable memory box
ID card copy; mixed-sized originals; 
multi-up (up to 15 columns by 15 
rows); single color; annotation and 
Bates stamping with color and font 
size adjustment; sample set

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Dimensions (HxWxD) 31.10" x 23.70" x 26.18" 45" x 25.2" x 28.9"
Weight 209.4 lbs 321 lbs
Power Requirements 120 V, 12 A 110-127 V, 15 A
Energy Used While Power Off 0.2W Info not avail
Energy Used in Power Save Mode 0.7W 3.78W

Energy Used in Ready Mode 60W 70.9W
Energy Used While Copying 770W 740W
Energy Used While Printing 770W 740W
Energy Used While Scanning Info not avail Info not avail
Max Power Consumption 1650W Info not avail
TEC Value 2.04KWh Info not avail
Dedicated Outlet Recommended Required
Energy Star Compliant Yes Yes
Operating Noise Level 70 dB 68.3 dB
COMMENTS None None
OPTIONS

DP-7110 DSPF: $1,800 Envelope tray (497K18170): $349
DP-7130 DSPF: $1,342 HCF 2,000 sheets (097S04615): 

$1,299
DP-7100 RADF: $1,417 Booklet maker for Office Finisher LX 

(497K03852): $799
DT-730(B) Tray document: $45 Finisher booklet Business Ready 

(097S04620): $4,995
Banner Guide (10) Banner guide: $310 Finisher Business Ready 

(097S04619): $2,995
PF-7120 LCT 3,000 sheets: $1,417 Finisher Office LX (097S04920): 

$2,500
PF-7110 Paper-feed unit 2 x 1,500 
sheets: $1,380

Folding unit C/Z fold for Business 
Ready finishers (097S04616): $2,600

PF-7100 Paper-feed unit 2 x 500 
sheets: $1,287

Punch unit for Office Finisher LX 
(497K03860): $795

AK-7130 Bridge unit: $96 Stapler convenience with work surface 
(498K08250/497K17150): $299

DF-7120 Finisher 1,000 sheets: $1,540 Transport kit horizontal for BR 
finishers

82



KYOCERA TASKalfa 4053ci Xerox AltaLink C8045
DF-7110 Finisher 4,000 sheets: $2,500 Fax option one line with LAN fax 

(497K16430): $1,095
DF-7130 Finisher 4,000 sheets: $2,314 Fax option two line with LAN fax 

(497K16440): $1,399
DF-7100 Finisher internal: $1,396 Print server EFI Fiery: $2,995
BF-730 Folding unit booklet and tri-fold 
for DF-7110 finisher: $1,500

Print server EFI Fiery EX-c C8000

BF-9100 Folding unit booklet and tri-fold 
for DF-7130 finisher: $930

Interface 802.11b/g/n (497K11500): 
$99

JS-7100 Job separator: $205 XPS print driver: $499
MT-730(B) Mailbox: $1,000 Card reader common access with 

enablement kit 
(497K15600/498K17546): $199

PH-7A Punch unit: $670 Card reader RFID (497K18650): $279

PH-7100 Punch unit for 500-sheet inner 
finisher: $670

McAfee Integrity Control enablement: 
$499

STAND Cabinet stand: $244 Foreign device interface (098S04886): 
$175

(10) Keyboard holder: $113 EFI productivity package 
(497N04238): $2,199

NK-7130 Keypad hard keys: $76
Type E Platen cover: $117
Printing System 15 EFI Fiery print 
controller: $6,220
System 12 Fax option: $1,155
A Fax option internet: $300
System 12 Fax option second line: 
$1,155
(A) Scan extension kit (searchable 
PDF/OCR): $600
IB-50 Interface 10/100/1000BaseTX 
Gigabit Ethernet: $349
IB-51 Interface 802.11b/g/n: $471
Interface kit for EFI Fiery print controller: 
$750
UG-34 Emulations additional: $560
(B) Card authentication kit: $350
11 Card reader holder: $64
Spectrophotometer EFI UV ES-2000: 
$1,348
EFI Color Profiler Suite 4, UV with ES-
2000 spectrophotometer: $3,750
EFI Hot Folders and Virtual Printers: 
$825
EFI Productivity Package: $5,300
EFI SeeQuence Impose: $2,500
EFI SeeQuence Suite: $3,000

83



KYOCERA TASKalfa 4053ci Xerox AltaLink C8045
UG-33 ThinPrint support: $140

SUPPLIES/MAINTENANCE
TK-8517K Black toner cartridge: Priced 
by dealer; Yield: 30,000; Coverage: 5%

Black toner cartridge (006R01697): 
$174; Yield: 26,000; Coverage: 5%

TK-8517C Cyan toner cartridge: Priced 
by dealer; Yield: 20,000; Coverage: 5%

Cyan toner cartridge (006R01698): 
$193; Yield: 15,000; Coverage: 5%

TK-8517M Magenta toner cartridge: 
Priced by dealer; Yield: 20,000; 
Coverage: 5%

Magenta toner cartridge (006R01699): 
$193; Yield: 15,000; Coverage: 5%

TK-8517Y Yellow toner cartridge: Priced 
by dealer; Yield: 20,000; Coverage: 5%

Yellow toner cartridge (006R01700): 
$193; Yield: 15,000

MK-8525A Maintenance kit (includes 
black drum, black developer, fuser, 
transfer unit and paper feed rollers): 
Priced by dealer; Yield: 600,000

Black drum (013R00662); Yield: 
125,000

MK-8525B Maintenance kit color 
(includes color drums and color 
developers): Priced by dealer; Yield: 
600,000

Cyan drum cartridge (013R00662); 
Yield: 125,000

WT-8500 Waste toner container: Priced 
by dealer; Yield: 40,000; Coverage: 5 
black/7.3 color

Magenta drum cartridge (013R00662); 
Yield: 125,000

PM Schedule: 600,000 Yellow drum cartridge (013R00662); 
Yield: 125,000
Belt cleaner assembly (001R00613); 
Yield: 160,000
Transfer roller (008R13064); Yield: 
200,000
Waste toner container (008R13061); 
Yield: 43,000
PM Schedule: None set

MULTIFUNCTION MODES
Copier Std Std
Internet Fax Opt Std
Network Printer Std Std
Printer Std Std
Fax Opt Opt
Network Fax Opt Std
PC Fax Opt No
Scanner Std Std
CONNECTIVITY 
SPECIFICATIONS

84



KYOCERA TASKalfa 4053ci Xerox AltaLink C8045
Operating System Support Win XP, Server 2003, Vista, Server 

2008, 7, Server 2012, 8, 8.1, 10, Mac 
OS 10.x, Linux, Novell NetWare, UNIX

Win XP, Server 2003, Vista, Server 
2008, 7, Server 2012, 8, 8.1, 10, Mac 
OS 10.8-10.11, Citrix, Linux, UNIX, 
Novell

Parallel Interface None None
Serial Interface None None
USB Interface Std 2.0, std 2.0 (host) x 4 Std 2.0, std 2.0 (host)
Network Interface Std Ethernet, std wireless Std Ethernet, opt wireless

Interface Type 10/100/1000BaseTX, 802.11b/g/n 10/100/1000BaseTX, 802.11b/g/n
Mobile Print Support Yes (Apple AirPrint, Google Cloud Print, 

KYOCERA Mobile Print, Mopria, Wi-Fi 
Direct)

Yes (Apple AirPrint, @PrintByXerox, 
Google Cloud Print, Mopria Print 
Service, Xerox Mobile Link App,
 Xerox Mobile Print, Xerox Mobile Print 
Cloud, Xerox Print Management and
 Mobility Suite, Xerox Print Service 
Plug-in, Wi-Fi Direct)

Near Field Communication Std Std
Embedded Software Platform or 
Extensible Solutions Interface

Hybrid Platform for Advanced Solutions 
(HyPAS)

Extensible Interface Platform (EIP)

FACSIMILE SPECIFICATIONS
Compression Method MH/MR/MMR/JBIG MH/MMR
Modem Speed 33.6 Kbps 33.6 Kbps
Max TX Resolution 600 x 600 dpi 600 x 600 dpi
Std/Max Fax Memory 170-MB RAM/170-MB RAM Shared
Confid TX/RX Yes/Yes Yes/Yes
Dual Lines Opt Opt
Other Duplex TX/RX; F-code TX/RX; fax box; 

network faxing; opt internet fax; 
transmission speed of less than three 
seconds

Opt walkup fax (one-line and two-line 
options), Internet fax, LAN fax; print 
two-sided and/or staple incoming 
documents; build job; 200 password-
protected mailboxes; junk fax 
prevention; fax forward to email or 
SMB; auto send; delay start

PRINTER SPECIFICATIONS
Engine Mfr & Model KYOCERA/TASKalfa 4053ci Fuji Xerox and Xerox/AltaLink C8045
Compatibility PC, Mac PC, Mac
Speed 40 ppm color/40 ppm black 45 ppm color/45 ppm black
First-Page-Out Time 6.5 sec color/5.1 sec black 6.5 sec color/5.3 sec black
Max Print Area Info not avail Info not avail
Print from USB Yes (JPEG, PDF, TIFF, XPS) Yes (PCL, PDF, JPEG, PS, TIFF, 

XPS)
Enhanced Resolution 9600 x 600 dpi 1200 x 2400 dpi
Unenhanced Resolution 1200 x 1200 dpi Info not avail
Std/Max Printer Memory Shared Shared
Controller Mfr/Model KYOCERA/Info not avail Xerox/ConnectKey

Processor/Bits/MHz Freescale QorIQ T1024/Info not 
avail/1.2 GHz

Quad core/Info not avail/1.91 GHz

85



KYOCERA TASKalfa 4053ci Xerox AltaLink C8045
PDL/PCL PCL 5c/6/XL, PostScript 3, 

PRESCRIBE, XPS, OpenXPS
PCL 5c/6, Adobe PostScript 3, opt 
XPS

Controller Mfr/Model EFI/Fiery Printing System 15 EFI/Fiery (FS150)
Processor/Bits/MHz Info not avail Intel Pentium dual core G850/Info not 

avail/2.9 GHz
PDL/PCL Not applicable Adobe PostScript 3

Controller Mfr/Model Not applicable EFI/Fiery EX-c C8000 (FS200)
Processor/Bits/MHz Not applicable AMD GX-424CC Quad Core/Info not 

avail/2.4 GHz
PDL/PCL Not applicable PCL 5/6. Adobe PostScript 3

Other PDF Direct Print, supports banner 
printing up to 12" x 48"/320 mm x 1,220 
mm via bypass tray; opt Fiery controller

Direct PDF, JPEG, TIFF and XPS file 
printing from USB drives which 
supports collation, stapling and hole 
punch; configuration cloning; earth 
smart driver settings; job identification; 
booklet creation; store and recall 
driver settings; bi-directional real-time 
status; scaling; job monitoring; Xerox 
custom color by words; banner 
printing; supports Xerox Global Print 
Driver, Mobile Express and Pull Print 
Drivers; supports mobile and cloud 
printing; opt Fiery network server 
features Fiery FS150 software, 1-GB 
RAM, 500-GB HD; opt EX-c C8000 
Print Server features FS200 software, 
2-GB RAM, 500-GB HD

SCANNER AND IMAGE 
MANAGEMENT SPECIFICATIONS

Technology/Scan Speed CCD/80 ipm color, 80 ipm black or 100 
ipm color, 100 ipm black or 120 ipm 
color, 120 ipm black

CCD/80 ipm color, 80 ipm black

Max Resolution 600 x 600 dpi 600 x 600 dpi
TWAIN Compatible Yes Yes
Scan Destinations

Cloud Yes Yes
I-fax Yes Yes
FTP Yes Yes
SMB Yes Yes
HDD Yes Yes
URL No Yes
USB Yes Yes
LDAP Support Yes Yes

86



KYOCERA TASKalfa 4053ci Xerox AltaLink C8045
File Formats Supported JPEG, PDF, PDF/A, compact PDF, 

encrypted PDF, searchable PDF, TIFF, 
XPS, OpenXPS

JPEG, PDF, PDF/A, 
encrypted/password protected PDF, 
linearized PDF/PDF/A, searchable 
PDF, TIFF, XPS

Scan/Image Software Opt KYOCERA business applications 
and third-party applications

Info not avail

OCR Software Opt KYOCERA business applications 
and third-party applications

Info not avail

File Mgmt Software Opt KYOCERA business applications 
and third-party applications

Info not avail

Other WSD scan, scan speeds are when 
using the document feeder and are 
based on letter/A4 at 300 dpi resolution

Single touch scan buttons (up to 10); 
bit depth of 24-bit color/8-bit 
grayscale/1-bit black; encrypted scan 
to email; scan to mailbox, USB, 
network folder and cloud (opt); 250 
scan templates (CentreWare IS scan 
templates can be shared via device 
cloning); scan build job; mixed sized 
originals; reduction/enlargement; 
compression quality/file size control; 
auto background and shadow 
suppression; scan speed based on 
letter/A4 paper using the document 
feeder

COMMENTS
Includes KYOCERA's HyPAS (Hybrid 
Platform for Advanced Solutions) 
embedded platform for customized 
workflow solutions; std wireless range of 
98.5 feet/30 meters, opt wireless range 
of 328.1 feet/100 meters with IB-51 
option

Xerox ConnectKey technology 
(combines hardware, common 
software, solutions and apps 
developed by Xerox and their partners 
for optimized workflow); device 
includes QR Code and PrintByXerox 
embedded apps with additional apps 
available from the Xerox App Gallery 
via free download (some apps may 
require an account with that vendor); 
remote control panel; customizable 
user interface; device management 
includes: Xerox Embedded Web 
Server, Xerox CentreWare Web, 
Xerox Device Manager, Xerox 
Standard Accounting; Smart eSolution 
suite (includes MeterAssistant, 
SuppliesAssistant, 
MaintenanceAssistant); device is 
Mopria-certified

© 2019 Buyers Laboratory LLC

87



 City of Stevenson 
 

Phone (509)427-5970                                           7121 E Loop Road, PO Box 371 
FAX (509) 427-8202                                             Stevenson, Washington 98648 

 
 

May 16, 2019 

 

Skamania County Commissioners 

PO Box 790 

Stevenson, WA 98648 

 

RE: Enforcement of Initiative 1639 

 

Dear Commissioners, 

 

The City of Stevenson respectfully requests enforcement of the provisions of I-1639 as passed by 

a vote of the people, unless a court rules it is unconstitutional.   

 

Sheriff Brown has voiced concerns with the department’s ability to enforce I-1639 due to 

“potential lack of staffing and budget to meet the requirements of the initiative, legality of the 

initiative…”
1
.  The Sheriff has broad discretion to set priorities and direct staff and resources to 

where it is most needed.  However, some sections of I-1639, such as enhanced background 

checks, are not discretionary.
2
  City Attorney Ken Woodrich has stated, “…the statute is 

presumptively constitutional unless and until proven otherwise ‘beyond a reasonable doubt.’”
3
  

For these reasons the city considers the enforcement of I-1639 required. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 
Scott Anderson, Mayor 

                                                           
1
 Approved minutes from April 16-17, 2019 Commissioners meeting. Pages 3-4 

http://www.skamaniacounty.org/minutes/Minutes_Files_2019/Min_April_2019.pdf 

2
 WA State Office of the Attorney General, May 14, 2019 https://www.atg.wa.gov/initiative-

1639#5%20transfer%20requirements 

3
 February 27, 2019 Memo from Ken Woodrich to Dave Scott and Washougal City Council. Page 3 

https://www.cityofwashougal.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/administration/page/5893/memo_re_i-

1639_enforcement_mattersrev.pdf 

88



 

 

                City of Stevenson 
      Leana Kinley, City Administrator 

 

  Phone (509)427-5970                                           7121 E Loop Road, PO Box 371 
  FAX (509) 427-8202                                             Stevenson, Washington 98648 

 
To: City Council 
From: Leana Kinley, City Administrator 
RE:  Financial Software  
Meeting Date: May 16, 2019 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
The City of Stevenson has been using Vision Municipal Solutions (Vision MS) financial software since 
2010 when the previous software system was no longer adequately supported.  Vision MS has worked 
for the city and staff was knowledgeable about its nuances, creating outside workbooks to overcome 
shortcomings.  With new staff onboard, both at the city and within Vision MS, it is becoming more 
apparent that the current software is not serving the city well.  Staff recommends BIAS Software to 
replace Vision MS and to implement that change by July, 2019. 
 
Overview of Items: 
 
Staff reached out to multiple software vendors on solutions to replace Vision MS.  Some of them are not 
serving the west coast or Washington state.  BIAS Software is based in Spokane and was created 
specifically for Washington state cash basis entities.   
 
Vision MS requires additional staff time in managing outside spreadsheets to create reports that are 
standard out of BIAS (examples attached).  There are also process improvements that will come with 
BIAS, cutting down on staff time.  It is difficult to convey the challenges staff experience with Vision MS 
which are beyond the ability to learn new software.   
 
The financial comparison of Vision MS and BIAS is below.  The staff time savings are very conservative 
and are beginning in 2020 to show the most conservative impact of the change.  The software will pay 
for itself in two years. 
 

 

2019 2020 2021 

Vision MS 
   Annual Service Fee 7,150.00  7,507.50  7,882.88  

Staff Time Costs 
 

11,530.80  11,876.72  

Total Vision MS Cost of Ownership 26,188.30  45,947.90  

BIAS Online 
   Annual Service Fee 5,409.25  10,818.50  11,143.06  

Installation Fee 11,590.00  
  Total BIAS Cost of Ownership   27,817.75  38,960.81  

 
 

89



 

 

BIAS also offers a permitting module which will still save in total ownership costs after 2021.  The 
permitting module will help the city attain its goal of storing permit records by property address rather 
than permit number.  Nuisance and code violations can also be tracked within the same tool.  Currently 
each year has a new spreadsheet for building permits and there is a separate spreadsheet for nuisances.  
Neither are easily to run reports on or to view outstanding permits or nuisances. 
 

 

2019 2020 2021 

BIAS Online Permitting Module 
   Permitting Service Fee 1,425.00  2,850.00  2,935.50  

Permitting Install Fee 1,590.00  
  Total BIAS Cost, Including Permitting 33,682.75  41,896.31  

 
The BIAS solution is a cloud-based software which allows the city to save about $400 on server 
infrastructure costs.  It also helps with the security of the city’s data as currently a staff member 
switches out a back-up drive every week and takes it home to secure the city’s electronic records. 
 
The support from BIAS is also more robust than Vision.  There is live support with a timely service level, 
online documentation and a knowledge database. Vision lacks documentation, has limited staff and a 
slow response time, which is stressful when working on tight deadlines such as payroll. 
 
Action Needed: 
 

 Approve moving forward with the purchase of the BIAS Software solution including the Permitting 
Module for a total 2019 cost of $20,014.25. 

90



1/31/19 Interest Principal Total Net Rate Recap
Investment Sales 0.00

0.00 (2.3731 Dec 2018) (.5073 Dec 2016) (.1041 Dec 2014) (.2350 Dec 2012) (.2644 Dec 2010)
Gross Anticipated Ending 0.00 (2.2821 Nov 2018) (.4672 Nov 2016) (.0928 Nov 2014) (.1792 Nov 2012) (.2155 Nov 2010)

0.00 (2.2317 Oct 2018) (.4739 Oct 2016) (.0987 Oct 2014) (.1777 Oct 2012) (.2564 Oct 2010)
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (2.0620 Sep 2018) (.5249 Sep 2016) (.0980 Sep 2014) (.1807 Sep 2012) (.2997 Sep 2010)

Bond Calls 0.00 0.00 (2.0146 Aug 2018) (.4932 Aug 2016) (.0946 Aug 2014) (.1848 Aug 2012) (.2680 Aug 2010)
Investment Purchases (1.9858 Jul 2018) (.4895 Jul 2016) (.0998 Jul 2014) (.1764 Jul 2012) (.2762 Jul 2010)

0.00 (1.8866 Jun 2018) (.4936 Jun 2016) (.0870 Jun 2014) (.1746 Jun 2012) (.3014 Jun 2010)
0.00 (1.7951 May 2018) (.4242 May 2016) (.0920 May 2014) (.1443 May 2012) (.2709 May 2010)
0.00 (1.7149 Apr 2018) (.4288 Apr 2016) (.1011 Apr 2014) (.1479 Apr 2012) (.2395 Apr 2010)
0.00 (1.5755 Mar 2018) (.4488 Mar 2016) (.1138 Mar 2014) (.1367 Mar 2012) (.2245 Mar 2010)
0.00 (1.4731 Feb 2018) (.4201 Feb 2016) (.1051 Feb 2014) (.1394 Feb 2012) (.2723 Feb 2010)
0.00 0.00 (1.4290 Jan 2018) (.3872 Jan 2016) (.1110 Jan 2014) (.1213 Jan 2012) (.2864 Jan 2010)

TOTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1.2775 Dec 2017) (.2532 Dec 2015) (.1276 Dec 2013) (.1305 Dec 2011) (.3347 Dec 2009)
(1.1561 Nov 2017) (.1674 Nov 2015) (.1161 Nov 2013) (.1480 Nov 2011)
(1.1385 Oct 2017) (.1874 Oct 2015) (.1259 Oct 2013) (.1127 Oct 2011)

Current Investments: LGIP Investments Riverview Investments TVI Investments Totals to match to GL Restricted Investments: (1.1372 Sep 2017) (.1764 Sep 2015) (.1230 Sep 2013) (.1338 Sep 2011)
LGIP GENERAL FUND 292,000.00 0.00 467,084.73 759,084.73 3,115.25 (CATV - 9833 Riverview) (1.1101 Aug 2017) (.1561 Aug 2015) (.1230 Aug 2013) (.1723 Aug 2011)
LGIP GF-RESTRICTED/FIRE 150,000.00 442,000.00 0.00 150,000.00 300,000.00 (1.0734 Jul 2017) (.1447 Jul 2015) (.1197 Jul 2013) (.1561 Jul 2011)
LGIP STREETS 25,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 (.9803 Jun 2017) (.1688 Jun 2015) (.1214 Jun 2013) (.1583 Jun 2011)
LGIP TOURISM 224,000.00 0.00 100,000.00 324,000.00 (.8688 May 2017) (.1428 May 2015) (.1341 May 2013) (.1394 May 2011)
LGIP CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 6,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 31,000.00 (.8283 Apr 2017) (.1430 Apr 2015) (.1670 Apr 2013) (.1718 Apr 2011)
LGIP TIMBER HARVEST 25,000.00 500,196.80 525,196.80 (.7007 Mar 2017) (.1579 Mar 2015) (.1789 Mar 2013) (.2338 Mar 2011)
LGIP WATER/SEWER 52,000.00 0.00 111.14 52,111.14 (.6303 Feb 2017) (.1346 Feb 2015) (.1650 Feb 2013) (.2189 Feb 2011)
LGIP W/S CONSTRUCTION 53,000.00 105,000.00 0.00 115,000.00 168,000.00 (.6303 Jan 2017) (.1349 Jan 2015) (.1745 Jan 2013) (.2328 Jan 2011)
LGIP WS OUTFALL RESERVE 0.00 0.00 32,000.00 32,000.00
LGIP EQUIPMENT SERVICE 18,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 28,000.00

0.00
0.00
0.00 TOTAL ALL INVESTMENTS

845,000.00 0.00 1,399,392.67 2,244,392.67 3,115.25 2,247,507.92
LGIP
General Fund GF-Fire GF-CATV Streets Tourism Cap Imp Timber Harvest

292,000.00 12/31/18 Balance 150,000.00 12/31/18 Balance 25,000.00 12/31/16 Balance 224,000.00 12/31/18 Balance 6,000.00 12/31/18 Balance 25,000.00 201703 RO Dep 12/31/17

292,000.00 150,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 224,000.00 6,000.00 25,000.00

W/S WS Construction ES
52,000.00 12/31/18 Balance 53,000.00 12/31/18 Balance 18,000.00 12/31/18 Balance

52,000.00 53,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTALS LGIP TOTAL  LGIP GF TOTAL LGIP ST TOTAL LGIP TOURISM TOTAL LGIP CAP IMP TOTAL LGIP TIMBER TOTAL LGIP W/S TOTAL LGIP ES
845,000.00 442,000.00 25,000.00 224,000.00 6,000.00 25,000.00 105,000.00 18,000.00

RIVERVIEW
General Fund CE-Fire CE-CATV Streets St - Restricted Tourism Cap Imp

3,112.14 12/31/16 Balance #9833
1.55 12/31/17 Interest 
1.56 12/31/18 Interest

0.00 0.00 3,115.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

W/S 80R 80RR WS Construction ES ES Restricted Trust

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTALS RIVERVIEW TOTAL  RCB GF TOTAL RCB ST TOTAL RCB TOURISM TOTAL RCB CAP IMP TOTAL RCB TIMBER TOTAL RCB W/S TOTAL RCB ES TOTAL RCB UNEMP
3,115.25 3,115.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TVI BONDS
General Fund GF-Fire CE-CATV Streets Tourism Cap Imp Timber Harvest

143,930.76 201602 FNMA/wPremium to 7/28/20 125,000.00 201602 FNMA to 7/28/20 40,000.00 201702 FHLMC to 8/23/19 25,000.00 201702 FHLMC to 8/23/19 275,000.00 201704 RO from 201402 12/31/17
124,316.97 201702 FHLMC to 8/23/19 25,000.00 201802 FFCB to 2/23/21 60,000.00 201802 FFCB to 2/23/21 300,196.80 2018014 FFCB to 1/24/20
198,837.00 201802 FFCB to 2/23/21 200,000.00 201802 FFCB to 2/23/21

(275,000.00) 201704 matured 02/05/2019
467,084.73 150,000.00 100,000.00 25,000.00 500,196.80

W/S WS Construction WS Outfall Reserve ES
111.14 201602 FNMA Premium to 7/28/20 100,000.00 201702 FHLMC to 8/23/19 32,000.00 201602 FNMA to 7/28/20 10,000.00 201702 FHLMC to 8/23/16

20,986.67 RO 201402to201704 12/31/17
15,000.00 201802 FFCB to 2/23/21

(20,986.67) 201704 matured 02/05/2019

111.14 115,000.00 32,000.00 10,000.00
TOTALS TVI TOTAL  TVI GF TOTALTVI ST TOTAL TVI TOURISM TOTAL TVI CAP IMP TOTAL TVI TIMBER TOTAL TVI W/S TOTAL TVI ES

1,399,392.67 617,084.73 0.00 100,000.00 25,000.00 500,196.80 147,111.14 10,000.00 0.00

TOTALS ALL TOTAL  GF TOTAL ST TOTAL TOURISM TOTAL CAP IMP TOTAL TIMBER TOTAL W/S TOTAL ES
2,247,507.92 1,062,199.98 25,000.00 324,000.00 31,000.00 525,196.80 252,111.14 28,000.00
2,247,507.92

H:\Carla's Documents\Investments\2019\2019 Monthly Cash Flow Investment Inventory.xlsx

Vision Investment Report-
Manually Created in Excel

91



24

BIAS Investment Report-Created out of BIAS
No manual manipulation needed.

92



25 93



BIAS Software  

 

327 E. Pacific  
Spokane, WA 99202  

 

SERVICES ORDER FORM 

Order Form for: City of Stevenson  2019 Service Fee (6 Months): $5,409.25 

Prepared on: April 24, 2019  Onetime Costs: $11,590.00 

Order Form Expires: May 24, 2019  2020 Service Fee (est.): $10,818.50 

Order Form Number: 00000440  Contract Start Date:   05-01-2019 

   Contract End Date:   12-31-2019 

 

BIAS Order Form for City of Stevenson – April 24, 2019  
Prepared by: Mark Felchlin Page 1 of 3 
 

ORDER PREPARED FOR:   ORDER PREPARED BY: 

Company: City of Stevenson   Company: BIAS Software 

Contact: Leana (Johnson) Kinley   Contact: Mark Felchlin 

Address: 7121 E. Loop Rd. 
PO Box 371 
Stevenson, Washington 98648-0371 

  Address: 327 E Pacific 
Spokane, WA 99202   

Phone: (509) 427-5970   Phone: (509) 443-3332 

Email: leana@ci.stevenson.wa.us   Email: mark@biassoftware.com 

ORDER DETAILS 

CASH RECEIPTING 
ORDER  

START DATE 
ORDER 

END DATE 
ORDER TERM 

(MONTHS) 
MONTHLY/ 
UNIT PRICE 

QTY TOTAL PRICE 

Cash Receipting Essentials 
Includes: Licensing 

07-01-2019 12-31-2019 6 
$180.63

List Price: $212.50 
1 $1,083.75 

Training/Setup - CR 
Includes: Essential Training & Seasonal 
Support 

   
$840.00

List Price: $840.00 
1 $840.00 

    SUBTOTAL: $1,923.75 

 

FINANCIAL 
ORDER  

START DATE 
ORDER 

END DATE 
ORDER TERM 

(MONTHS) 
MONTHLY/ 
UNIT PRICE 

QTY TOTAL PRICE 

Financial Essentials 
Includes: GL, Vouchering, Budgeting, SAO 
Reporting, Bank Reconciliation 

07-01-2019 12-31-2019 6 
$201.88

List Price: $237.50 
1 $1,211.25 

Training/Setup - Financial 
Includes: Essential Training & Seasonal 
Support 

   
$2,250.00

List Price: $2,250.00 
1 $2,250.00 

Data Import - Financial 
Includes: COA, Budget, Vendors 

   
$500.00

List Price: $500.00 
1 $500.00 

    SUBTOTAL: $3,961.25 

 

PAYROLL 
ORDER  

START DATE 
ORDER 

END DATE 
ORDER TERM 

(MONTHS) 
MONTHLY/ 
UNIT PRICE 

QTY TOTAL PRICE 

Payroll Essentials 
Includes: PTO Tracking, Benefit Reporting, 
State and Federal Tax Reporting, DRS 
Reporting 

07-01-2019 12-31-2019 6 
$223.13

List Price: $262.50 
1 $1,338.75 

94



BIAS Software  

 

327 E. Pacific  
Spokane, WA 99202  

 

SERVICES ORDER FORM 

Order Form for: City of Stevenson  2019 Service Fee (6 Months): $5,409.25 

Prepared on: April 24, 2019  Onetime Costs: $11,590.00 

Order Form Expires: May 24, 2019  2020 Service Fee (est.): $10,818.50 

Order Form Number: 00000440  Contract Start Date:   05-01-2019 

   Contract End Date:   12-31-2019 

 

BIAS Order Form for City of Stevenson – April 24, 2019  
Prepared by: Mark Felchlin Page 2 of 3 
 

PAYROLL 
ORDER  

START DATE 
ORDER 

END DATE 
ORDER TERM 

(MONTHS) 
MONTHLY/ 
UNIT PRICE 

QTY TOTAL PRICE 

Training/Setup - Payroll 
Includes: Essential Training & Seasonal 
Support & Live Onsite 

   
$3,375.00

List Price: $3,375.00 
1 $3,375.00 

Data Import - Payroll 
Includes: Census Information 

   
$500.00

List Price: $500.00 
1 $500.00 

    SUBTOTAL: $5,213.75 

 

UTILITY BILLING 
ORDER  

START DATE 
ORDER 

END DATE 
ORDER TERM 

(MONTHS) 
MONTHLY/ 
UNIT PRICE 

QTY TOTAL PRICE 

Utility Billing - Essential 
Includes: Cycle Billing, Batch Billing, 
Consumption Billing, Work Orders 

07-01-2019 12-31-2019 6 
$247.92

List Price: $291.67 
1 $1,487.50 

Training/Setup - Utility Billing 
Includes: Essential Training & One Onsite by 
Request 

   
$3,375.00

List Price: $3,375.00 
1 $3,375.00 

Data Import - Utilities 
Includes: Customers, Service Locations, Read 
History, Notes, Active Bills 

   
$750.00

List Price: $750.00 
1 $750.00 

    SUBTOTAL: $5,612.50 

 

USER ACCESS 
ORDER  

START DATE 
ORDER 

END DATE 
ORDER TERM 

(MONTHS) 
MONTHLY/ 
UNIT PRICE 

QTY TOTAL PRICE 

Enterprise User 
License for all licensed apps 

07-01-2019 12-31-2019 6 
$12.00

List Price: $12.00 
4 $288.00 

    SUBTOTAL: $288.00 

  

95



BIAS Software  

 

327 E. Pacific  
Spokane, WA 99202  

 

SERVICES ORDER FORM 

Order Form for: City of Stevenson  2019 Service Fee (6 Months): $5,409.25 

Prepared on: April 24, 2019  Onetime Costs: $11,590.00 

Order Form Expires: May 24, 2019  2020 Service Fee (est.): $10,818.50 

Order Form Number: 00000440  Contract Start Date:   05-01-2019 

   Contract End Date:   12-31-2019 

 

BIAS Order Form for City of Stevenson – April 24, 2019  
Prepared by: Mark Felchlin Page 3 of 3 
 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
During the Contract Term and for one year thereafter, Customer shall not disclose the pricing or terms hereunder to any third party (unless 
required by law) without BIAS prior written consent. 

ORDER FORM PRICE SUMMARY 

2019 Service Fee (6 Months): $5,409.25 

Onetime Costs: $11,590.00 

Contract Start Date:   05-01-2019 

Contract End Date:   12-31-2019 

Order Form doesn’t include sales tax. 

REMARKS 
Prices don’t include taxes that may apply. This is not an invoice. 

PAYMENT  

PAYMENT SCHEDULE 

DUE 30 DAYS AFTER APPROVAL 
$11,590.00 

DUE 30 DAYS AFTER DISCOVERY MEETING 
$5,409.25 

 

Name:  _____________________ 
 

Title:  _____________________ 

 

Date: _____________________ 
 

 

Signature: 

Upon signature by Customer and submission to BIAS, this Order Form shall become legally binding and governed by the Master Subscription Agreement between 
BIAS and Customer unless otherwise agreed by BIAS and Customer.  

Email or Fax all pages to 888.228.0030 or sue@biassoftware.com 
 

 

96



BIAS Software  

 

327 E. Pacific  
Spokane, WA 99202  

 

SERVICES ORDER FORM 

Order Form for: City of Stevenson  2019 Service Fee (6 Months): $1,425.00 

Prepared on: April 24, 2019  Onetime Costs: $1,590.00 

Order Form Expires: May 24, 2019  2020 Service Fee (est.): $2,850.00 

Order Form Number: 00000477  Contract Start Date:   05-01-2019 

   Contract End Date:   12-31-2019 

 

BIAS Order Form for City of Stevenson – April 24, 2019  
Prepared by: Mark Felchlin Page 1 of 2 

 

ORDER PREPARED FOR:   ORDER PREPARED BY: 

Company: City of Stevenson   Company: BIAS Software 

Contact: Leana (Johnson) Kinley   Contact: Mark Felchlin 

Address: 7121 E. Loop Rd. 
PO Box 371 
Stevenson, Washington 98648-0371 

  Address: 327 E Pacific 
Spokane, WA 99202   

Phone: (509) 427-5970   Phone: (509) 443-3332 

Email: leana@ci.stevenson.wa.us   Email: mark@biassoftware.com 

ORDER DETAILS 

PERMITTING 
ORDER  

START DATE 
ORDER 

END DATE 
ORDER TERM 

(MONTHS) 
MONTHLY/ 
UNIT PRICE 

QTY TOTAL PRICE 

Permitting Essentials 
Includes: Code Enforcement, Permits, Project 
Tracking 

07-01-2019 12-31-2019 6 
$237.50

List Price: $237.50 
1 $1,425.00 

Training/Setup - Permitting 
Includes: Essential Training 

   
$840.00

List Price: $840.00 
1 $840.00 

Data Import - Permitting 
Includes: Parcels, Vendors, Customers 

   
$750.00

List Price: $750.00 
1 $750.00 

    SUBTOTAL: $3,015.00 

  

97



BIAS Software  

 

327 E. Pacific  
Spokane, WA 99202  

 

SERVICES ORDER FORM 

Order Form for: City of Stevenson  2019 Service Fee (6 Months): $1,425.00 

Prepared on: April 24, 2019  Onetime Costs: $1,590.00 

Order Form Expires: May 24, 2019  2020 Service Fee (est.): $2,850.00 

Order Form Number: 00000477  Contract Start Date:   05-01-2019 

   Contract End Date:   12-31-2019 

 

BIAS Order Form for City of Stevenson – April 24, 2019  
Prepared by: Mark Felchlin Page 2 of 2 

 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
During the Contract Term and for one year thereafter, Customer shall not disclose the pricing or terms hereunder to any third party (unless 
required by law) without BIAS prior written consent. 

ORDER FORM PRICE SUMMARY 

2019 Service Fee (6 Months): $1,425.00 

Onetime Costs: $1,590.00 

Contract Start Date:   05-01-2019 

Contract End Date:   12-31-2019 

Order Form doesn’t include sales tax. 

REMARKS 
Prices don’t include taxes that may apply. This is not an invoice. 

PAYMENT  

PAYMENT SCHEDULE 

DUE 30 DAYS AFTER APPROVAL 
$1,590.00 

DUE 30 DAYS AFTER DISCOVERY MEETING 
$1,425.00 

 

Name:  _____________________ 
 

Title:  _____________________ 

 

Date: _____________________ 
 

 

Signature: 

Upon signature by Customer and submission to BIAS, this Order Form shall become legally binding and governed by the Master Subscription Agreement between 
BIAS and Customer unless otherwise agreed by BIAS and Customer.  

Email or Fax all pages to 888.228.0030 or sue@biassoftware.com 
 

 

98



DOT Form 140-063
Revised 09/2005

Supplemental Agreement 
Number 

Organization and Address

Phone: 

Original Agreement Number

Project Number Execution Date Completion Date

Project Title New Maximum Amount Payable

Description of Work

The Local Agency of 
desires to supplement the agreement entered in to with 
and executed on 

 
The changes to the agreement are described as follows:

I
Section 1, SCOPE OF WORK, is hereby changed to read:

II

for completion of the work to read: 
III

If you concur with this supplement and agree to the changes as stated above, please sign in the Appropriate 

By: By: 

Consultant Signature Approving Authority Signature

Date

City of Stevenson
Wallis Engineering, PLLC

8/9/2018 LA 9422

See Exhibit A2

no change

additional funds of $22,676.34

02

LA 9422

Wallis Engineering PLLC
215 West 4th Street, Suite 200
Vancouver, WA 98660

STPR-B309(001) 8/9/2018 12/31/2021

Russell Avenue Improvements $224,224.17

This project consists of providing design services for Russell Avenue Improvements Project. The project will reconstruct Russell
Avenue, enhance the aesthetic appeal of the corridor by matching themes from adjacent improvements on 2nd Street and Cascade
Avenue, and improve the safety and operational characteristics of the corridor between 2nd Street and the BNSF rail line.

Wallis Engineering, PLLC

99



Basic Agreement Supplement #1 Supplement #2 Total
Direct Salary Cost 16,215.74$          24,098.02$      -$  40,313.76$    
Overhead (Including 
Payroll Additives) 25,568.98$          37,997.76$      -$  63,566.74$    
Direct Non-Salary Costs 7,055.00$            78,518.20$      22,676.34$      108,249.54$  
Fixed Fee 4,864.72$            7,229.41$        -$  12,094.13$    
Total 53,704.44$          147,843.39$    22,676.34$      224,224.17$  

Exhibit “A”
Summary of Payments

100



Russell Avenue Improvements February 2019 
Exhibit A2: Scope of Work, Supplement No. 2 Page 1 of 2 

EXHIBIT A2: SCOPE OF WORK 
WALLIS ENGINEERING 

RUSSELL AVENUE IMPROVEMENTS 
CITY OF STEVENSON 
SUPPLEMENT NO. 2 

February 2019 
WE#1465A 

GENERAL SCOPE OF PROJECT 
This project consists of providing design services for Russell Avenue Improvements Project. The project will 
reconstruct Russell Avenue, enhance the aesthetic appeal of the corridor by matching themes from adjacent 
improvements on 2nd Street and Cascade Avenue, and improve the safety and operational characteristics of the 
corridor between 2nd Street and the BNSF rail line. Improvements will include replacement of existing 
sidewalks and pavement, bulb-outs at the 1st Street intersection, installation of aesthetic amenities matching 
adjacent improvements, new decorative street lighting, replacing approximately 140 linear feet of asbestos 
cement waterline, installation of drainage improvements, and undergrounding of existing overhead utilities as 
necessary to accomplish the goals of the project. 
• Supplement No.1: Execution of the Prime Agreement was expedited in an effort to begin conceptual 

design and prepare conceptual graphic renderings of the proposed improvements to support City outreach 
events.  As such, the tasks included in the Prime agreement are limited to project management, NEPA 
coordination, topographic survey, and conceptual design efforts, but does not include design, preparation 
of PS&E documents, cultural resource investigations, right-of-way acquisition, or construction support.  
Supplement No. 1 amends existing tasks and creates new tasks necessary to deliver the design and 
construction documents for the project. Construction support services will be contracted under a future 
contract supplement. 

SUPPLEMENTAL NO. 2 SCOPE OF WORK 

During design development, final Right of Way acquisition needs were identified that differ from the original 
scope of work.  Additional Right of Way files will be required to obtain approval from WSDOT Local 
Programs.  This supplement will also include legal descriptions of all required Right of Way acquisition 
which was previously omitted and additional graphic preparation to support public outreach efforts. 

CONTRACT DURATION 

Contract term is unaffected by this supplemental scope of work. 

SPECIFIC SCOPE OF WORK 

Task 5  Right-of-way Services (Task Supplemented) 
Task 6  Public Outreach (Task Supplemented) 
 

SUBCONSULTANTS  

Roles and responsibilities for project subconsultants are listed in the table below: 

Subconsultant Discipline Task(s) 

Klein & Associates (Klein) Land Surveying Task 5 

101



Russell Avenue Improvements February 2019 
Exhibit A2: Scope of Work, Supplement No. 2 Page 2 of 2 

Epic Land Solutions, Inc. (Epic) Right-Of-Way and Easement Acquisition Task 5 

Juncus Studio, LLC (Juncus) Landscape Architect Task 6 

TASK 5 RIGHT-OF-WAY SERVICES (TASK SUPPLEMENTED) 
5.1 Temporary Construction Easements (Task Supplemented). In order to complete all work included in 
the current project scope, up to two (2) additional TCEs will be required beyond acquisitions previously 
scoped. Epic Land Solutions, Inc. will include the additional two (2) parcels in the required Project Funding 
Estimate for the Temporary Construction Easement, review Agency supplied title reports, provide Title 
Review Memos identifying all potential encumbrances to project team members and negotiate the sale of the 
easements with the property owners. 
5.3 Legal Descriptions (New Task). Legal descriptions will be necessary for all seven (7) temporary 
easements obtained for this project. Klein will complete legal descriptions for all necessary easements. Klein 
and Associates will Prepare Easements, Legal Descriptions and Exhibits where specified by the Client.  

Assumptions: 
• Two (2) additional Temporary Construction Easements are required for this project.  Total easements 

required for the project totals seven (7). 
• Title reports will be provided by the City. 
• The City will facilitate payment for right-of-way acquisitions. 
• Assumes (2) additional AOSs will be prepared. 
• Assumes no appraisals or appraisal reviews will be done, if appraisals and reviews are required, they 

will be at additional cost 
• Seven (7) total legal descriptions and exhibits are assumed for the entire project. 
• No permanent easements are required for the lighting meter and equipment and the City has the legal 

authority to locate equipment previously obtained easements on Parcel 02070110350000. 

TASK 6 PUBLIC OUTREACH (TASK SUPPLEMENTED) 
Objective: Provide information to the community regarding the project. 
 
6.2 Prepare Exhibits (New Task). Juncus will update graphic renderings for use by City staff when 
working with the public and keeping City Council informed of project updates.  

Assumptions: 
• A maximum of two (2) exhibits will be provided. 
• The City will lead the public information activities and will coordinate public meeting invitations, 

venue, and scheduling.  
 

 
 

P:\14\1465A Stevenson Russell Ave Imp\100 Agmt\102 Working Docs\Supplement 2\1465A SOW Supp 2.docx 

102



Exhibit D2
Prime Consultant Cost Computations

CONSULTANT:  Wallis Engineering
PROJECT:  Russell Avenue Improvements

DIRECT SALARY COST (DSC):

x Rate Cost
Senior Engineer x $59.32 = $0.00
Engineer 1 x $52.88 = $0.00
Engineer 2 x $51.20 = $0.00
Engineer 3 x $42.31 = $0.00
Engineer 4 x $38.94 = $0.00
Engineer 5 x $37.50 = $0.00
Engineer 6 x $27.88 = $0.00
Senior Designer x $75.00 = $0.00
Inspector x $50.00 = $0.00
Technician 1 x $33.00 = $0.00
Clerical 1 x $26.00 = $0.00
Technical Writer x $31.46 = $0.00

0 TOTAL DSC $0.00

OVERHEAD (OH COST - Including Salary Additives):
OH Rate x DSC of 157.68% x $0.00 TOTAL OH = $0.00

FIXED FEE (FF):
FF Rate x (DSC) of 30.00% x $0.00 TOTAL FF = $0.00

REIMBURSABLES:
Printing & Mileage

TOTAL REIMBURSABLES: $0.00

SUBCONSULTANT COSTS:
EPIC $13,906.45
Klein $7,020.00
Juncus $1,749.89

TOTAL SUBCONSULTANT COSTS: $22,676.34 $22,676.34

GRAND TOTAL = $22,676.34

PREPARED BY: Erin Kingsley DATE: 5/2/2019

Classification Man Hours 

103



104



Exhibit E2 
Subconsultant Cost Computations

CONSULTANT:  Wallis Engineering
SUBCONSULTANT: Juncus Studios, LLC
PROJECT:  Russell Avenue Improvements

DIRECT SALARY COST (DSC):

x Rate = Cost
Owner / Principal 14 x $52.08 = $729.12

TOTAL DSC = $729.12

OVERHEAD (OH COST - Including Salary Additives):
OH Rate x of 110.00% x $729.12 TOTAL OH = $802.03

FIXED FEE (FF):
FF Rate x of 30.00% x $729.12 TOTAL FF = $218.74

REIMBURSABLES:
Printing & Mileage $0

TOTAL REIMBURSABLES: $0.00

GRAND TOTAL = $1,749.89

APPROVED BY: Dave Elkin DATE: 4/12/2019
Dave Elkin

Classification Man Hours 

105



Exhibit E2 
Subconsultant Cost Computations

x Rate = Cost
Principal in Charge 1 x $72.12 = $72.12
Advisory Manager 12 x $64.90 = $778.80
Agent 74 x $29.72 = $2,199.28
Finance and Project Controls 2 x $46.35 = $92.70
Project Support 18 x $20.00 = $360.00

TOTAL DSC = $3,502.90

OVERHEAD (OH COST - Including Salary Additives):
OH Rate x DSC of 178.50% x $3,502.90 TOTAL OH = $6,252.68

FIXED FEE (FF):
FF Rate x (DSC) of 30.00% x $3,502.90 TOTAL FF = $1,050.87

REIMBURSABLES:
Printing, Real Estate Online Resources & Mileage $100
PFE & AOS's $3,000

TOTAL REIMBURSABLES: $3,100.00

GRAND TOTAL = $13,906.45

PREPARED BY: Dianna Nausley-McKeon DATE: 4/5/2019

CONSULTANT:  Wallis Engineering 
SUBCONSULTANT: Epic Land Solutions, Inc. 
PROJECT:  Russell Avenue Improvements

DIRECT SALARY COST (DSC):

Classification Man Hours 

106



CITY OF STEVENSON, WASHINGTON 

RESOLUTION 2019 – 328 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A BALLOT PROPOSITION 

FOR CREATION OF A METROPOLITAN PARK DISTRICT 

 

 

WHEREAS the City acknowledges the need for recreational, health and educational benefits for 

residents of Skamania County;  

 

WHEREAS the current pool although in good physical condition is not in operation; 

 

WHEREAS the City recognizes that through formation of a Metropolitan Park District the finances 

needed to operate the pool would be realized through property tax collections and user fees; 

 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.61 authorizes a local government resolution to submit a ballot proposition for 

creation of a Metropolitan Park District;  

 

WHEREAS the City intends to draft an interlocal agreement with Skamania County to jointly 

administer the governance of said Metropolitan Park District as described in RCW 35.61.050(4);  

commissioners of the district will be selected by the voters as described in RCW 35.61.050(2). 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Stevenson hereby 

authorizes a ballot proposition for creation of a Metropolitan Park District, following the boundaries of 

the Stevenson-Carson School District #303, less the boundaries of the City of North Bonneville, be 

submitted to the voters of the area proposed to be included. 

 

PASSED by the Council of the City of Stevenson this 17
th

 day of January, 2019. 

 

 

       ___________________________________ 

       Scott Anderson, Mayor of the City of Stevenson 

 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

              

Leana Kinley, City Clerk    Kenneth B Woodrich, PC 

       City Attorney  

107



CITY OF STEVENSON PROFESSIONAL SERVICE CONTRACT, MONTHLY REPORT & INVOICE 
 
Contractor:   Skamania County Chamber of Commerce 
Reporting Period:  April 2019 
Amount Due:   $    7,500.00 Monthly Contract Amount 
             270.00  Program Management Time 
          9,188.67      Monthly Reimbursables 
    $  16,958.67  
 
VISITOR STATISTICS     Stevenson Office   
Walk-In Visitors:                     238      
Telephone Calls:            96 
E-Mails:            21 
Business Referrals:                  1,201             
Tracked Overnight Stays:          64               
Mailings (student, relocation, visitor, letters):                     9 
Large Quantity Brochures                     425 
Chamber Website Pageviews                 3,734 
COS Website Pageviews                 5,577  
 
CHAMBER BUSINESS 
 
Chamber Board Meeting:  The April Board Meeting was held with discussion items including an update on Washington 
State Tourism and updates on staff goals and projects.  Question for discussion; What do you want to see the Chamber 
staff accomplish this year?  What would you like the Chamber board to accomplish this year?   
 
Chamber Membership:  We had 7 new members join in April and 24 renewals. 
 
“Columbia Currents” Monthly Electronic E-Newsletter:  The April 2019 issue was deployed to over 1,000 recipients.   
 
“Under Currents” Weekly E-Blast:  The weekly e-blast, consisting of updates and announcements submitted by 
Chamber members, is emailed out on Thursday afternoons. 
 
Facebook Pages:  The Chamber manages Facebook pages for the Stevenson Business Association, Gorge Blues and 
Brews Festival, Christmas in the Gorge, Logtoberfest as well as for the Chamber itself. 
 
Chamber Happy Hour:  The April Chamber Happy Hour event was hosted by Invision, LLC with about 35 people in 
attendance.    
 
Chamber Marketing, Projects, Action Items:   

• Attended Oregon Governors Conference on Tourism in Eugene.  
• Met with Executive Directors of the Mt Adams Chamber and Goldendale Chamber to discuss working together to 

promote the Washington side of the Gorge.    
• Had phone meeting with businesses interested in starting a Food Trail on the Washington side of the Gorge. 
• Installed new kiosk panel inserts. 
• Visited 4 businesses to invite them to join the Chamber. 
• Held our first Brown Bag Workshop on operating your Square credit card processing system. 

 
County/Regional/State Meeting and Projects: 
 
Wind River Business Association (WRBA):  Continue to serve as treasurer for WRBA – pay monthly bills, reconcile 
bank statements and attend monthly meetings.  Ordered new panel inserts for the information kiosk in Carson.  Chris 
Malone will install them.  
 
Stevenson Downtown Association (SDA): Worked a shift manning a table at Foolfest to pass out information on the 
Stevenson Downtown Association and Clean-Up Day.  Helped with Clean-Up Day and the first mural unveiling party.  
Continue to work with SDA Promotion Committee members on historical walking tour of Stevenson.   
 
Columbia Gorge Tourism Alliance (CGTA): Met to discuss first step of starting a Food Trail on the Washington side of 
the Gorge.   
   108



 (The projects and tasks described below are an example of services provided to the City of Stevenson through an additional contract 
with the Chamber to administer their promotional programs and deliverables.) 
 
Stevenson/SBA Meetings and Projects: 

• Held monthly SBA meeting. 
• Deployed new monthly newsletter.  
• Walked around Stevenson with SBA President Tom Meade to handout SBA survey and clean-up day flyers to all 

businesses to encourage involvement. 
• Continue to work on Gorge Blues and Brews Festival: Sent out brewery and winery application, more sponsorship 

packets, place ads, update event website and Facebook page. 
 

2019 CITY OF STEVENSON PROMOTIONAL PROGRAMS REIMBURSABLES 

Program 2 Promotional Products and Projects 
P2-B Stevenson Map Printing                 213.25  
P2-D1 Website                  612.09 
P2-D2 Advertising – Print              1,660.00 
P2-E Wind River Publishing Ads                                   1,140.00 
Program 3 SBA Event Program 
P3-A Gorge Blues and Brews Festival             1,563.33 
P3-C 4th of July               4,000.00    
                $9,188.67 
 

   2019 Budget   Current Request  Requested YTD Remaining 
Total Program Promo Expenses        85,000.00                9,188.67            17,539.75       67,460.25 

 
          

  
2019 CITY OF STEVENSON PROMOTIONAL PROGRAMS MANAGEMENT TIME 

P2-D2 Marketing (print, social media, press releases) 4 hrs             $  120.00 
Program 3 Stevenson Business Association Events  
P3A Gorge Blues and Brews                5 hrs             150.00 
                                    8 hrs         $  270.00 

109



 
 

April 8, 2019                                                                                                                                     1 

MINUTES 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

Monday, April 8, 2019  
6:00 PM  

 
Planning Commission Members Present: Valerie Hoy-Rhodehamel, Karen Ashley, 
Auguste Zettler, Shawn Van Pelt 
Excused Absence: Jeff Breckel 
Staff Present: Community Development Director Ben Shumaker 
Community Members Present: Matthew Knudsen, Thomas McCloskey, Johanna Roe 
 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
 
Preliminary Matters  
1. Chair Selects Public Comment Option  
2. Minutes February 19th & March 11th Meeting Minutes  
 
MOTION to approve the February and March meeting minutes made by ASHLEY, seconded by 
ZETTLER. All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
3. Public Comment Period None 
 
New Business  
4. None  
 
Old Business  
5. Zoning Changes ZON2019-01 Accessory Dwelling Units & Use Category Clean-up  
 
Commission discussed having a conversation with the applicant around the placement of their 
ADU on their property and the proximity to the main residence. This explanation will support the 
prevention of splitting lots if the ADU does not sit in the appropriate spot within the lot. Shumaker 
noted at the last meeting in regards to public input that it’s an educational component for the 
applicant to make the best decision for their property and their interests at that time. The 
Commission discussed not wanting to tell landowners what they can and can’t do with their 
property.  
 
Commission also discussed minimum and maximum lot size requirements and the value to setting 
the standard by zoning code as the lot size could change over time. Shumaker confirmed that 
ADUs are currently allowed in zones R1 and SR where lot sizes depend on connection to city 
water/well and sewer/septic. The Commission reached consensus on doubling the lot size.  
 
In considering connection rate and standards for ADUs, the Commission discussed whether the 
connection fees. City staff confirmed that duplexes, similar to attached ADUs, have a discount 
within the current rate structure. Shumaker explained the Equivalent Residential Units (ERU) but 
stated that more information will be needed on how that works in specific situation before 
determining the outcome. He explained that as of the most recent census, there were 2.1-2.21 
people per household so the ERU is how much water is consumed and/or how much waste is 
produced by 2.1-2.21 people living in a house. When scaling up connection fees, the city would 
likely base fees on the ERU. The Commission agreed that the applicant should pay for the system 

110



 
 

April 8, 2019                                                                                                                                     2 

development charge (SDC) and were not ready to determine the percentage. The way the 
Commission would like to address this is with a letter to City Council. The Commission reached 
consensus for the chair to work with staff in drafting the letter with the main point that the 
applicant should be charged and the charge should be fair and equitable based on the City 
Council’s determination.  
 
The Commission reached consensus to approve parking as drafted.  
 
The Commission majority voted to remove the ADA statement from the draft, as this exception is 
already available and known given other standards and documents.  
 
The Commission discussed the current draft, which is that detached ADUs cannot be used as a 
vacation rental. The Commission discussion previously highlighted that if there is a city concern 
around the housing crisis, then vacation rentals do not support this goal of additional available 
housing. Further, the Commission discussed allowing landowners to do what they want with their 
land and their building. The discussion at the last meeting also brought up the availability to open 
up to vacation rentals down the line as opposed to trying to close it from being available from the 
start. There was also a conflict amongst the Commission regarding attached ADUs allowing 
vacation rentals as well as the principal house but not with detached. The Commission discussed 
this as too restrictive. Shumaker noted the community feedback from the recent survey where 4 
out of 32 respondents said they had concerns with vacation rentals. The city does have a current 
licensing program for vacation rentals and, as currently written, it is to begin with an assumption of 
trust. The Commission discussed the neighborhood feel versus the temporary impact of a 
weekend rental rather than a full time permanent rental. The Commission discussed the purpose 
of the ADUs by allowing financial gain as the purpose or helping the housing crisis as the 
purpose. Shumaker added perspective of individual owner and the requirement that the 
landowner dwell in one of the properties. The Commission reached a majority to not add the 
restriction regarding vacation rentals.  
 
The Commission then discussed the proximity requirement of a detached ADU to the primary unit 
and possible neighboring unit. It was reviewed again that property owners should be able to do 
what they want with their property but they need to be considerate of whether the land can be 
subdivided at a later date. The Commission shared interest in forcing subdividing if the proximity 
is not met to avoid subdividing at later dates as well as owners being able to access discounts it 
needs to be near the primary residence. Shumaker noted the value of some supervision to 
housing on property. The Commission then discussed that a feet requirement could do the 
opposite of what is intended by preventing subdivision. The Commission suggested an exception, 
a staff member override or to have it written in that the detached ADU not prevent subdivision if 
possible. The discussion also highlighted ADUs changing single family neighborhoods and 
effecting the zoning without changing the zoning. Shumaker questioned whether the proximity 
standard truly supports and is enough for the subdivision avoidance. The Commission agreed 
wanting to have the proximity as a tool to maintain supervision over tenants of detached ADU. 
There was Commission consensus for a variance with language “as close as possible not to 
exceed __ feet”. The Commission majority voted to set hard number at 40 feet, as it gives 
flexibility and opportunity to subdivide within zoning setback standards, and if further than that 
then the applicant would have to apply for a variance. There was consensus to include additional 
qualifier which states “to ensure adequate supervision of ADU and other purposes” and the 
Commission gave Shumaker license to create language.  
 

111



 
 

April 8, 2019                                                                                                                                     3 

The Commission discussed maximum unit size and whether to have a hard number, such as 800 
square feet or some other percentage option based on primary unit. The discussion questioned 
whether the ADU could end up being bigger than the primary residence and swapping the 
percentage standard so the original structure is now the ADU and the new structure is the primary 
larger unit. The Commission discussed that percentage can be very open ended whereas a hard 
number could end up looking like construction that in design looks like duplexes. The Commission 
reached consensus to specify different standards for attached, detached and basement 
conversions and majority on focusing on a hard number at 800 square feet, which is the same as 
the county’s standard on detached ADUs. Further consensus was reached to remove 
configuration requirement/restriction (2 of section C on page 10 of 11).  
 
The Commission also reached consensus to keep the amnesty clause and language as drafted. 
They had discussion around fees and the fairness of having landowners retroactively pay fees. 
Shumaker confirmed that it is not a Planning Commission decision and fees would be further 
discussed with City Council. 
 
Shumaker highlighted the use categories on page 2 of 2 of the staff report as well as throughout 
ordinance. He asked the Commission to consider nesting manufactured and modular homes 
under single family dwellings, consider townhomes as a separate category and consider removing 
the two family definition as it is similar to multi family already defined and then rely on the density 
standards of the zoning district. The Commission and staff agreed to finish discussion at a later 
date. Shumaker to take this out for the time being.  
 
The use categories for sales and arts were included as previously discussed. Shumaker asked 
the Commission to consider nesting veterinarian under professional office as drafted. Consensus 
to move forward. Shumaker then asked to consider creating a category for commercial wedding 
venue in suburban-residential district based on a previous interpretation. Consensus to move 
forward. 
 
Shumaker verified the following expectations of what was to be removed/ changed from the draft 
ordinance: remove Section 1 related to definitions, remove a portion of section 2 related to 
Residence or Accommodation uses (except ADU), section 3 and 4 stay the same, section 5 and 6 
change remove dwelling unit section at the top, section 7 stays the same, section 8 modified as 
discussed at tonight’s meeting. The Commission asked to see the final document at the next 
meeting before making a motion to recommend the ordinance for City Council approval. 
 
Discussion  
6. Staff & Commission Reports Downtown Planning  
 
Shumaker noted that the moratorium will expire around August given the current guidelines. A 
consultant is on board and was chosen partially because of their short timeline for delivery. There 
is a future plan to bring the consultant to a Commission meeting and start planning in earnest and 
would be suggestions for recommendations and changes. Shumaker is hopeful that the 
Commission will have a detailed discussion regarding ordinance-changes based on the plan 
within 2019.  
 
Shumaker also noted that Commission email addresses are in process.  
 
7. Thought of the Month None  
 

112



 
 

April 8, 2019                                                                                                                                     4 

Adjournment at 8:08 p.m. 
 
 

Approved __________; Approved with revisions ___________ 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________ 
Name     Date 
 

Minutes by Claire Baylor 
 

113



114



115



116



117



118



 
Charge Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 
Criminal Non-Traffic  

Assault 4th Degree 1 2 1 - - - - - - - - -
Bail Jumping - - - - - - - - - - - -
Disorderly Conduct - - 1 - - - - - - - - -
Malicious Mischief III - - - - - - - - - - - -
Minor in Possession (Marijuana) - - - - - - - - - - - -
No Contact/Protection/Antiharass Order Vio 1 - 1 - - - - - - - - -
Obstruct law enforcement 1 - 2 - - - - - - - - -
Resisting Arrest - - - - - - - - - - - -
Supply Liquor/Premises to Minor - - - - - - - - - - - -
Theft 3 - 1 1 4 - - - - - - - -
Other Criminal Non-Traffic - - 1 - - - - - - - - -

Total Criminal Non-traffic 3 3 7 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Criminal Traffic  
DUI/Physical Control 1 - - - - - - - - - - -
Operate Vehicle w/o Ignition Interlock - - - - - - - - - - - -
No Valid Op License or Driving While Suspended 1 3 1 1 - - - - - - - -
Hit & Run - - - - - - - - - - - -
Reckless Driving - - 1 - - - - - - - - -

Total Criminal Traffic 2 3 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Non-Traffic Infraction  
Dog Running at Large - - - - - - - - - - - -
Open/Consume Alcohol Public Place - - - - - - - - - - - -
Open/Consume Marijuana Public Place - - - - - - - - - - - -
Outdoor Burning Violation - - - - - - - - - - - -

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Traffic Infraction  
Vehicle Registration (Fail to Register/Expired) - - - 2 - - - - - - - -
Fail to Signal - - - - - - - - - - - -
Fail to Wear Safety Belt - - - - - - - - - - - -
Fail to Yield Right of Way - 1 - - - - - - - - - -
Following too Close - - - - - - - - - - - -
Improper Passing on Left - - - - - - - - - - - -
Leaving Unattended Veh on Roadway - - - - - - - - - - - -
Negligent Driving 2nd Degree - - - - - - - - - - - -
No Motorcycle Endorsement - - - - - - - - - - - -
No Valid Operator's  License/No License on Person - 1 - 1 - - - - - - - -
Open Alcoholic Container - - - - - - - - - - - -
Op Motor Vehicle w/o Headlights when Req'd - - - - - - - - - - - -
Op Motor Vehicle w/o Insurance 2 1 3 2 - - - - - - - -
Speeding - 1 - 3 - - - - - - - -
Wrong Way on One-Way Street - - - - - - - - - - - -

Total Traffic Infractions 2 4 3 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Parking Infractions  
Illegal Parking, Standing, Stopping - - - - - - - - - - - -

Total Traffic Violations & Citations: 4 7 5 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2019 Monthly Total Violations & Citations 7 10 12 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2019 Year-to-Date Total Violations & Citations 7 17 29 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42

YTD Traffic related 2019 YTD: 4 11 16 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25
YTD Traffic related 2018 YTD: 14 35 59 70 85 101 110 115 116 119 122 124
YTD Traffic related 2017 YTD: 4 5 12 12 14 19 23 23 29 30 31 35
YTD Traffic related 2016 YTD 6 10 16 21 26 42 63 68 75 97 100 103

  Stevenson Municipal Court
  Summary of Cases Filed 2019

  Updated 4/15/2019

H:\1Kristys Documents\My Court stuff\Case filings for Council\April Case filings for council 2019

119



City of Stevenson 
Fire Department – Rob Farris, Chief 

 

(509) 427-5970  7121 E Loop Road, PO Box 371 
Stevenson, Washington 98648 

 

To: Stevenson City Council 
From: Rob Farris, Fire Chief 
RE:  Fire Department Update – April 2019 
Meeting Date: May 16th, 2019 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
The fire department has been busy in our preparation for the upcoming wild fire season.  We have been 
refilling supplies and doing pump training in anticipation for a busy year. We have added 3 additional 
volunteers to our “Red Card” program for wild land fire response this brings the total Red Carded 
personnel to 13. 
 
We will also be attending the Skamania County EMS Street Fair on May 18th from 10:00am to 1:00pm.  
This is a public interaction event that helps us get out in the community and interact with our tax payers 
 
 
Overview of Items: 
 
Command Vehicle Grant Project: Vehicle is currently at the builder.  Our original builder could not finish 
the vehicle build prior to the grant deadline due to scheduling issues so another vendor was sourced.  
Tanninen Repair Services out of Battle Ground Washington is being used and anticipates finishing the 
vehicle in the first week of June 
 
New Fire Hall: No new updates for this project. 
 
Drills/Training/Calls: 
April Drills/Training – 79 Hours of volunteer training time 
April Calls – 4 total 
 1 – Wild Fire 
 1 – Mutual Aid – Cascade Locks Structure Fire 
 2 – Burn Complaints 
  
  
  
  
 
Action Needed: Request for City Staff or Mayor/Council to attend EMS Street Fair to take feedback from 
the community about the New Station project.  This event is Saturday May 18th and runs from 11:00AM 
to 2:00PM.  The Department will have a tent at the event handing our public education materials 

120



Number Vendor Name Account Description Amount
13469 A&J Select Fire Supplies $7.38

Fire Supplies FD II $7.39
Household Supplies/Repairs $4.50

Check Total:   $19.27
13470 Aramark Uniform Services Household Supplies/Repairs $9.60

Repairs/Supplies Contracted $149.05
Check Total:   $158.65

13471 Avista Utilities Electricity $139.67
Fire Hall Heat And Lights $53.77
Heat & Lights $58.50

Check Total:   $251.94
13472 BSK AddyLab,LLC Testing $312.00

WW Sampling Professional Services $105.00
Check Total:   $417.00

13473 Carson Hardware Operating Supplies $9.69
Parks Supplies $386.62

Check Total:   $396.31
13474 Cascade Columbia Distribution 

Company
Operating Supplies $209.53

13475 CenturyLink Central Services Telephone $192.78
Fire Telephone $106.14
Sewer Telephone $105.52

Check Total:   $404.44
13476 Centurylink Comm Inc Central Services Telephone $49.03
13477 CH2MHILL  OMI Operations Contract (OMI) $11,154.08
13478 City of Stevenson City Hall Water/Sewer $88.89
13479 Classy Glass Custodial Services $350.00
13480 Columbia Gorge Interpretive Center CRGIC Consultant Services $21,593.70
13481 Columbia Hardware, Inc. Operating Supplies $228.56

Parks Supplies $268.66
Repairs/Supplies Contracted $326.85
Supplies $189.46

Check Total:   $1,013.53
13482 Columbia River Disposal Litter Clean-Up $196.09
13483 Consolidated Supply Co. Operating Supplies $2,534.49
13484 Correct Equipment Operating Supplies $3,637.69
13485 Crandall Arambula Planning & Professional Assist $2,125.00
13486 Department of Commerce Base Res PWTF Loan Principal $23,273.39

Base Reservoir PWTF Loan Interest $930.94
Check Total:   $24,204.33

13487 Discover Your Northwest Discover Your Northwest $2,089.39
13488 Evergreen Rural Water of 

Washington
Training $160.00

13489 Grainger Operating Supplies $134.31
13490 Gregory S Cheney PLLC Indigent Defense $735.00
13491 Hood River Sand & Gravel Operating Supplies $834.87

A/P Check Register

Fiscal: : 2019
Period: : 2019 - May
Council Date: : All
Bank Account: General Checking Umpqua
System Types: : FinancialsCheck Numbers: : All

 Printed by COS\mary on 5/16/2019 12:03:11 PMExecution Time: 9 second(s) Page 1 of 3
City of Stevenson - Register - by Account Description Report

121



Number Vendor Name Account Description Amount
13492 Ian Lofberg Travel $449.16
13493 Jacobs' Services Inc. Custodial Services $250.00
13494 Les Schwab Tire Center Fire Equipment Repair $1,985.42
13495 Mackenzie Consulting Engineering $1,634.28
13496 Mission Communications LLC Telemetry Services $2,731.21
13497 NAPA Auto Parts Parks Supplies $1.49

Repairs/Supplies Contracted $612.93
Check Total:   $614.42

13498 Office of State Treasurer - Cash 
Mgmt Division

Agency Disbursement - Court $247.12

Agency Remittances - State Bldg Code $75.00
Check Total:   $322.12

13499 One Call Concepts, Inc. Dues & Membership/Filing Fees $21.40
13500 Pacific Power Group, LLC Repair (Contract Serv) T&D $1,112.00

Repair-Contracted Labor $1,112.00
Check Total:   $2,224.00

13501 PacWest Machinery Training $90.00
13502 Petty Cash Household Supplies/Repairs $10.17

Miscellaneous - Postage $3.80
Office Supplies & Postage $91.44
Office Supplies and Postage $91.43
Repairs/Supplies Contracted $40.00

Check Total:   $236.84
13503 Pixis Labs WW Sampling Professional Services $118.00
13504 Polydyne Inc Operating Supplies $1,211.63
13505 PUD No 1 of Skamania County Dewatering Electricity Chesser $188.12

Electricity $1,565.78
Electricty - Street Lights $1,582.95
Fire Hall Heat And Lights $213.59
Heat & Lights $466.58
Parks Electricity $70.00

Check Total:   $4,087.02
13506 QCL, Inc. Dues And Membership - General Govt $65.92

Medical Physicals-Required $270.84
Check Total:   $336.76

13507 Radcomp Technologies Computer Services $46.62
Computer Services/Repair $283.89
Office Equip Repair& Maintenance $93.23

Check Total:   $423.74
13508 Ricoh USA, Inc Office Equip Repair& Maintenance $58.00
13509 Sea-Western Inc Fire Supplies $141.60

Fire Supplies FD II $141.60
Check Total:   $283.20

13510 Skamania County Assessor Planning & Professional Assist $120.00
13511 Skamania County Chamber of 

Commerce
Consultant Services, Chamber $7,500.00

SBA Consultant Services $9,458.67
Check Total:   $16,958.67

13512 Skamania County EMS Fire Department Training $262.50
Fire Training FD II $262.50

Check Total:   $525.00
13513 Skamania County Health 

Department
Medical Physicals-Required $133.10

13514 Skamania County Pioneer Legislative Publishing $41.18
Planning Publication $129.48

Check Total:   $170.66

 Printed by COS\mary on 5/16/2019 12:03:11 PMExecution Time: 9 second(s) Page 2 of 3
City of Stevenson - Register - by Account Description Report

122



Number Vendor Name Account Description Amount
13515 Skamania County Probation Agency Disbursement - Court $1,708.06
13516 Skamania County Prosecutor Prosecuting Attorney County Contract $2,666.00
13517 Skamania County Sheriff Jail Services $473.60
13518 Skamania County Treasurer Agency Disbursement - Court $6.64

CR Jus #1 Drug/Alcohol ED $414.31
CR Jus #4 Basic Law Enforcemnt $709.85
Municipal Court Contract $3,334.00
Police Services $28,288.50
Substance Abuse/Liquor Excise $47.37

Check Total:   $32,800.67
13519 Stevenson Downtown Association Main St Program Coordinator (SBA) $10,000.00
13520 Stevenson-Carson School District Community Pool Support $2,500.00
13521 US Bank Dues & Membership -  Financial $150.00

Miscellaneous - Postage $15.20
Office Supplies $71.18
Repairs/Supplies Contracted $132.05
Small Tools/Minor Equipment $354.00
Training $815.02
Training & Tuition - Planning $81.69
Training/Tuition - Financial/Records $278.00
Travel - Planning/Prof Assistance $209.06
Tuition Mayor/Administrator $35.00
Website - General Fund $20.00

Check Total:   $2,161.20
13522 US Bank Safekeeping Fiduciary Fees/VISA $30.00
13523 Walter E. Nelson, CO Litter Clean-Up $389.43
13524 Wapiti Aerial Service Inc Repairs/Supplies Contracted $325.00
13525 WEX Bank Fire Truck Fuel $136.47

Fire Truck Fuel FDII $87.51
Gas and Oil $1,607.20

Check Total:   $1,831.18
13526 Woodrich, Kenneth B PC Advisory Board Services $1,482.00
051901ACH 
Excise return 
April

Department of Revenue Repairs/Supplies Contracted $188.66

Sewer Taxes $1,114.69
Water Taxes $1,828.75

Check Total:   $3,132.10
IC April 2019 
ACH0519IC

InvoiceCloud EBPP Fees Sewer $152.00

EBPP Fees Water $152.00
Check Total:   $304.00

Grand Total $167,545.41
Total Accounts Payable for Checks #13469 Through #IC April 2019 ACH0519IC

 Printed by COS\mary on 5/16/2019 12:03:11 PMExecution Time: 9 second(s) Page 3 of 3
City of Stevenson - Register - by Account Description Report

123



Fund Number Description Amount
001 General Fund $51,599.24
100 Street Fund $2,571.48
103 Tourism Promo & Develop Fund $50,662.95
303 Joint Emergency Facilities Fund $1,634.28
400 Water/Sewer Fund $56,974.14
500 Equipment Service Fund $4,103.32

Count: 6 $167,545.41

Fund Transaction Summary

Transaction Type: Invoice
Fiscal: 2019 - May - May 2019

 Printed by COS\mary on 5/16/2019 12:01:43 PM Page 1 of 1
City of Stevenson - Fund Transaction Summary

124


	Top
	a) Gorgegrass & Fire Fest Liquor License-2019
	b) Fair Liquor License
	c) May 2019 Liquor Licenses
	d) April Minutes Approval
	[19.04.18] City Council Meeting

	a) SFR in C1 Moratorium Renewal
	Resolution 2019-333 SFR in C1 Moratorium Renewal Findings of Fact
	Ordinance 2019-1143 SFR in Commercial District moratorium 

	b) ADU Public Hearing
	StaffReport(MayCouncilHearing)
	ADU Utility Connections Memo
	Santa Cruz ADUFrequentlyAskedQuestionsFA
	SDCandFeesasof010119

	c) 6-Yr TIP 2019 PH #1
	2020 TIP Council Package

	a) Copier Lease Cont.
	Copier Memo
	CTX Proposal
	CTX Xerox Copier Specs
	Ricoh Upgrade Proposal
	Ricoh Revised IMC4500 Configuration
	Solutions Yes TA4053ci quote
	Solutions Yes Ecosys M3145idn quote
	BLI Kyocera 4053ci vs Xerox Altalink C8045

	b) Fire Hall Discussion
	c) May 2019 WWTP Update
	a) I-1639
	I-1639 Letter

	b) BIAS Software
	BIAS Software
	2019 Monthly Cash Flow Investment Inventory
	BIAS Investments-Treasurer&#39;s Report
	BIAS New Purchase - Order Form 4.24.19
	BIAS Permitting - Order Form 4.24.19

	c) Wallis Amendment #2
	Signed 1465A Agmt Supp 2

	d) MPD Resolution Amendment
	Resolution 2019-328 Metropolitan Park District-Amended to correct to form

	a) April 2019 Chamber report
	April 2019COS

	b) April 2019 PC Minutes
	PCMinutes4.8.19

	c) April 2019 Sheriff's Report
	April 2019 Sheriff&#39;s Report

	d) April 2019 Court Cases
	April Case filings for council 2019

	e) April 2019 Fire Department Report
	Fire Department Council Memo - April 2019 Summary

	a) May Voucher Info
	May 2019 Register - by Account Description Report

	a) May 2019 Executive Session
	b) May Second Executive Session
	Bottom

